
           
OFFICIAL AGENDA

TUESDAY November 25, 2025
Meeting Start Time: 9:00 a.m.

Board of County Commissioners
Yellowstone County, Montana

City Hall
316 N. 26th Street, Room 3108

Billings, MT
8:45 a.m. Agenda Setting 

           

Pledge to the Flag: Moment of Silence: Minutes
REGULAR AGENDA

9:00 a.m. RECOGNITION

Danya-Dee Webb Detention Center 25 Years of Service
Amy Hernandez County Attorney 25 Years of Service
Johnny Hutzenbiler Road 25 Years of Service
Becky Jolliff Sheriff Civil 20 Years of Service
Troy Jamieson Detention Center 15 Years of Service
Nicole Olson Information Technology 10 Years of Service

 

9:00 a.m. BID OPENING

Bid Opening for Metra Skybox Renovation — Bid Due Date has been Extended to Monday
December 15, 2025 at 3:00 p.m.
 

 

PUBLIC COMMENTS ON REGULAR, CONSENT AND FILED AGENDA ITEMS

 

1. PUBLIC WORKS  

 Approach Variance - 2523 Jessica Street (Driveway Width and Fill)
 

 

CLAIMS

 CONSENT AGENDA 

1. COMMISSIONERS  

a. Board Reappointment - Linda Lien to Historic Preservation Board  
b. Board Openings - Updated List

 
 

2. COUNTY ATTORNEY  

MOU and Agreement to Sub-Contract between Yellowstone County Sheriff's Office and
Alternatives, Inc.
 

 



3. FINANCE  

a. Recommendation of Award - Metra Crowd Management Services  
b. Notice of Award & Contract - Cedar Hall Renovation

 
 

4. PUBLIC WORKS  

Two Moon Park Mastication Project 2026
 

 

5. SHERIFF  

a. Hold Harmless Agreement for use of the Michael A. Shafer Training Facility  
b. Change in Alarm Monitoring Service for the Sheriff's Office & Evidence Building

 
 

6. HUMAN RESOURCES  

a. Proposed Class Specification - Deputy Chief Criminal Attorney  
b. PERSONNEL ACTION REPORTS — Detention Facility - 1 Appointment, 6 Salary & Other, 3

Terminations; County Attorney - 1 Appointment; Youth Services Center - 1
Termination; Motor Vehicle - 1 Termination 

 

 FILE ITEMS 

1. CLERK AND RECORDER  

Board Minutes - Lockwood Irrigation District Board Minutes
 

 

2. COMMISSIONERS  

Tax Appeal Board Minutes 11/19/25
 

 

3. ELECTIONS  

2025 Municipal General Election Canvass
 

 

4. FINANCE  

Metra Skybox Renovation IFB - Addendum #1
 

 

5. PUBLIC WORKS  

Snow Removal Contract with Thuesen Landscaping LLC  

PUBLIC COMMENTS ON COUNTY BUSINESS

Public comment is an opportunity for individuals to address the Board, however, the Board cannot engage
in discussion or take action on items not properly noticed on the agenda.

 



   
B.O.C.C. Regular        
Meeting Date: 11/25/2025  
Title: November Recognition
Submitted By: Amy Mills

TOPIC:

Danya-Dee Webb Detention Center 25 Years of Service
Amy Hernandez County Attorney 25 Years of Service
Johnny Hutzenbiler Road 25 Years of Service
Becky Jolliff Sheriff Civil 20 Years of Service
Troy Jamieson Detention Center 15 Years of Service
Nicole Olson Information Technology 10 Years of Service

BACKGROUND:
na

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
na



   
B.O.C.C. Regular        
Meeting Date: 11/25/2025  
Title: Bid Opening for Metra Skybox Renovation
Submitted By: Teri Reitz, Board Clerk

TOPIC:
Bid Opening for Metra Skybox Renovation — Bid Due Date has been Extended to Monday December 15,
2025 at 3:00 p.m.
 

BACKGROUND:
N/A

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
N/A



   
B.O.C.C. Regular        
Meeting Date: 11/25/2025  
Title: Approach Variance - 2523 Jessica Street (Driveway Width and Fill)
Submitted For:  Monica Plecker, Public Works Director 
Submitted By: Monica Plecker, Public Works Director

TOPIC:
 Approach Variance - 2523 Jessica Street (Driveway Width and Fill)
 

BACKGROUND:
Steven Taylor owns a residential property at 2523 Jessica Street in the Mackenzie Meadows Subdivision.
A 57' concrete approach has been constructed and the roadside ditch was filled in to accommodate
landscaping. In accordance with the Yellowstone County Road Policy, the approach is too wide and the fill
violates the county's approved cross section. Logan McIsaac discovered the violation while checking
approaches. He informed Mr. Taylor of the violation in person and subsequently notified him in writing on
September 9, 2025. Mr. Taylor has remained in contact with the public works office since being notified
of the violation. He formally requested a variance accommodate the approach and fill as constructed by a
letter dated September 30, 2025, the request was reiterated via a letter dated October 22, 2025 (both
letters are attached to this report). 

The applicant's request notes several points, some of which are summarized below. Please review the
letters in full for additional information: 

Applicant relied upon his builder, Hill Builders, to abide by local codes and regulations.
Applicant notes the permit does not include a specific approved width.
Applicant was told by multiple parties the streets were not maintained by Yellowstone County, so it
assumed no involvement by the County.
Applicant notes there are other subdivisions and even properties within Mackenzie Meadows
subdivision that have driveways exceeding 50' and those where street-side ditches have been filled
in.

Staff reviewed the variance request and researched the property in detail. Staff determined a 50'
approach would be acceptable, but the 7' of overage and fill would need to be removed. This decision
was made based on the following factors (See letter attached for additional details): 

Since May, 2025, The Yellowstone County Road Policy allows properties with greater than 150' of
frontage to have a 50' approach. Although the approach was applied for prior to the regulation
change, staff is agreeable based on current regulations to allow a maximum of 50' to remain for the
approach. 
The approach was not constructed as permitted and even with the new 50' maximum the approach
is still out of conformance with regulations by 7'. Although the permit does not explicitly state the
approach was limited to 30', the permit does state the approach has to be in compliance with the
regulations. Further, the approach process includes a physical inspection of the proposed
approach. The physical inspection was shown and therefore approved at 30'. Further unform
approaches have a direct relationship to safety. 
The fill is prohibited via Addendum #2 14.7.15 which states "Existing drainage in the public road
right of way shall not be altered or impeded without specific written approval from the Montana
Department of Environmental Quality. In cases outside of subdivisions or in subdivisions with no
storm water management plan, specific written approval from YCPW will be required.
The fill has a direct relationship to stormwater maintenance. Allowing the fill to remain as is will have
an adverse impact on both available flow and storage capacity of the existing roadside ditches.



an adverse impact on both available flow and storage capacity of the existing roadside ditches.
Maintaining the integrity of these ditches is critical The stormwater plan, as approved by the
Montana Department of Environmental Quality, requires that all storm drainage systems be located
as shown on the approved plans, The Plans specifically note "All public roads within this subdivision
will be built to county roads standards with roadside ditches unless noted otherwise."
The Subdivision Improvement Agreement states in Section II. E. "Culverts and associated drainage
swales shall not be filled in or altered by the subdivider or subsequent lot owners."
The Subdivision Improvement Agreement states in Section V. "All  drainage improvements shall
comply with the provisions of the Section 4.7, Yellowstone County Subdivision Regulations, and a
stormwater management plan shall be submitted to and approved by the DEQ, or its designee."

As a result of the above staff remains that 7 feet of concrete must be removed to reduce the total
approach width to 50 feet, consistent with the current Road Policy. Staff will provide Mr. Taylor with
an updated permit to reflect the 50’ authorization because there is lot frontage greater than 150’.
However, prior to granting the updated permit, a plan to remove the excess fill and approach width must
be in place.  The corrective work must occur from the edge of pavement to the property line.
Improvements located beyond the property line are not part of the variance request and are not regulated
under the County Road Policy.

The Board discussed this item on November 20th.

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
The BOCC will consider the item at it's regular board meeting on November 25, 2025. 

The Board should consider all the materials provided in making its determination, and further, on
November 25th, the Board should provide justification for its decision to either approve or deny the
variance.

Attachments
(Letter 1) Initial Violation Letter from PW to Steven Taylor 
(Letters 2 and 3) Variance Request Letters from Steven Taylor 
Variance Denial Letter 
Supporting Documents 
Letter from Applicant 11.20.25 



Yellowstone County 
 
Public Works Department Phone  (256-2735) 
Po Box 35024 Fax       (254-7946) 
Billings, MT 59107 
 

September 9, 2025 

Re: 2523 Jessica Street, Unpermitted Encroachment in County Right of Way 

Mr. Steven D. Taylor, 

This letter is to inform you that the unpermitted right-of-way encroachment that appears to be adding 
on to the approach providing ingress/egress to the property addressed 2523 Jessica Street is 
unauthorized and represents an unpermitted encroachment in County right of way. Furthermore, there 
appears to be an unpermitted expansion to your drive approach in place, which was previously 
permitted to be thirty (30) feet wide. The County has previously informed you of your violation through 
conversation August 29, 2025. Your response to this conversation warrants a formal notice of your 
violation.  

If you do not respond by October 7, 2025, County Public Works will remove the right-of-way 
encroachment that does not conform to Yellowstone County’s Road Policy and may bill the costs of 
the work to you. My contact information is provided below – please contact me as soon as possible. 

Regards, 

 
 
Logan McIsaac 
 
Public Works Project Manager 
Yellowstone County 
(406) 256-6996 
lmcisaac@yellowstonecountymt.gov  

mailto:lmcisaac@yellowstonecountymt.gov




















November 10, 2025 
 
Mr. Steven D. Taylor 
2523 Jessica Street 
Billings, MT 59106 
 
Re: Variance Request 2523 Jessica Street (Driveway Width and Fill) 
 
Dear Mr. Taylor, 
 
This letter is in response to your request for a variance regarding the 57-foot driveway serving your property within 
the Makenzie Meadows Subdivision and additional fill placed in the right of way. Your request for this correspondence 
to be made part of the official County record is acknowledged. Should you wish to pursue an appeal, this letter will 
be included as an attachment to the staff report and will become part of the formal record. 
 
The roads within Makenzie Meadows Subdivision, 2nd filing are public roads maintained by Yellowstone County 
through a Rural Special Improvement District (RSID). In June 2021, the plat of Mackenzie Meadows Subdivision 2nd 
Filing was filed with the Yellowstone County Clerk and Recorder.  (Plat Attached).  The developer dedicated the roads 
in the subdivision to the public.  As dedicated public roads, Yellowstone County manages the roads in the subdivision. 
All internal roads were formally dedicated as right of way to the public and Jessica Street is expressly mentioned per 
the language shown on the Final Plat in the owner’s certification. Accordingly, all drive approaches connecting to 
public right of way are subject to County approach permitting and inspection per the County’s Road Policy (Attached). 
  
The subdivision had a stormwater plan that conveyed stormwater to retention ponds through swales on the side of the 
roads and culverts under driveways.  (DEQ Approval/Stormwater Plan/SIA Attached).  In May 2024, you purchased 
2523 Jessica Street, Lot 13, Block 8 of the subdivision. (Deed Attached). 
 
In June 2024, at your request the Yellowstone County Public Works Department issued you an approach permit to 
build a 30-foot-wide driveway over the right-of-way of Jessica Street. Approach Permit No. 22002 (Attached) was 
issued on June 28, 2024, and expired on December 28, 2024. At the time the permit was issued, the maximum 
allowable approach width was 30 feet. Per your letter, home construction began in August 2024, while the driveway 
work was not completed until April 2025. In May 2025, the County Road Policy was amended to allow 50-foot 
residential driveways for lots with frontage exceeding 150 feet. However, this policy update occurred after the permit 
was issued and after installation of your approach, which exceeds the previously approved 30-foot limit. Even with 
the newly allowable 50’ approaches, your driveway exceeds the maximum width allowable by 7’ 
 
Additionally, in August 2025, fill material was brought into the County right of way without a permit to facilitate a 
sprinkler system installation. This fill work occurred within the public right-of-way and required prior County 
authorization. No permit was applied for. In September 2025, the Department advised you that the driveway was too 
wide and the stormwater swale had been filled in and requested you rectify the issues.  (Letter 1 Attached).   In 
September and October 2025, you provided the Department with letters on the issues and requested variances for the 
issues.  (Letter 2; Letter 3 Attached). 
 
Staff has reviewed all the information provided by you (Letter dated September 30 and letter dated October 22, 2025). 
After thorough review, staff could not find unique circumstances to justify approval of a variance allowing the existing 
57-foot approach and the excess fill within the right-of-way. The reasons for denial of the variance include: 

• The approach was not constructed as permitted and is not in compliance with county policy. Uncontrolled 
access points have a direct relation to safety. 

• Allowing the fill material to remain as is will have an adverse impact on both available flow and storage 
capacity of roadside ditches. It is critical to retain the integrity of these roadside ditches as they help mitigate 
flooding in larger runoff events. 

• Long-term maintenance issues of the culvert could arise, as the longer the culvert the more difficult to 
maintain. 

• The fille was placed to facilitate irrigation. The County would prohibit private water lines and sprinklers in 
its right of way. These private lines and systems when placed in the right of way create a maintenance burden 
and hardship for maintaining the right of way. 



 
As a result, 7 feet of concrete must be removed to reduce the total approach width to 50 feet, consistent with the 
current Road Policy. Staff will provide to the you an updated permit to reflect the 50’ authorization because you have 
lot frontage greater than 150’. However, prior to granting the updated permit, a plan to remove the excess fill and 
approach width must be in place.  To be clear, this corrective work must occur from the edge of pavement to the 
property line. Improvements located beyond the property line are not part of the variance request and are not regulated 
under the County Road Policy. 
 
Please contact our office to coordinate the corrective work and permit reissuance. Based on recent telephone 
conversations, it is my understanding you wish to appeal the decision within this letter to the Board of County 
Commissioners. As such, I have scheduled this item for discussion November 20, 2025, no action occurs at this 
meeting. The item is subsequently scheduled for a regular business meeting on November 25, 2025. If these dates 
need to be rescheduled to accommodate your schedule, please reach me directly at mplecker@gmail.com or 406-256-
2730.  
 
Sincerely, 
 
 
 
Monica Plecker 
Director 
Yellowstone County Public Works 
 
 
 

 
 
 
  

mailto:mplecker@gmail.com


 
Attachments 

Plat 
DEQ Approval/Stormwater Plan 
Deed.  
Permit 
Road Regulations 
Subdivision Improvement Agreement 
Letter 1 
Letter 2 
Letter 3 

 

Mackenzie 
Meadows Plat.pdf

DEQ and 
Stormwater Approva

SIA.pdf Deed.pdf Permit.pdf Yellowstone County 
Road Policy.pdf

Letter 1.pdf Letters 2 and 3.pdf

 



Monica Plecker
Highlight



HEALTH 3978392

err a n c a aor e e o tone

Elll F MGMENEM£M4M Bl Ill

Page 8
--- - ^ - -- -- --

Mackenzie Meadows Subdivision, 2nd F%
.

Yellowstone County

E.Q. #21-1131

STORMWATER

THAT the storm drainage plan for the Mackenzie Meadows Subdivision, 2nd Filing was reviewed and

approved under EQ#21-1205, dated the 28th day of April, 2021, and,

THAT operation and maintenance of the storm drainage facilitiesshall be conducted by the Yellowstone

County Road RSID and individual lot owners, and,

THAT water supply systems, sewage treatment systems and storm drainage systems will be located as shown

on the approved plans, and,

THAT allsanitary facilitiesmust be located as shown on the attached lot layout, and.

THAT the developer and/or owner of record shall provide each purchaser of property with a copy of the

Plat,approved location of water supply and sewage treatment system as shown on the attached lotlayout, and

a copy of this document, and,

THAT instmments of transfer for this property shallcontain reference to these conditions, and,

THAT plans and specifications for any proposed sewage treatment systems will be reviewed and approved by

the county health department and will comply with local regulations and ARM, Title 17, Chapter 36,

Subchapters 3 and 9, before construction is started,

THAT departure from any criteriaset forth in the approved plans and specifications and Title 17, Chapter 36,

Sub-Chapters 1, 3, and 6 ARM when erecting a structure and appurtenant facilitiesin said subdivision without

Department approval, is grounds for injunction by the Department of Environmental Quality.

THAT pursuant to Section 764-122 (2)(a),MCA, a person must obtain the approval of both the reviewing

authority under Title 76, Chapter 4, MCA, and local board of health officer having jurisdiction,.beforefilinga

subdivision plat with the county clerk and recorder.

YOU ARE REQUESTED to record this certificateby attaching itto the Plat filedin your office as required

by law.

DATED this 30d1 day of April, 202L

CHRIS DORRINGTON

DIRECTOR

By:

Kevin Smith, PEg Íhire u Chief

Engineering Burea

Water Quality Division

Department of Environmental Quality

Owner's Name: Sam Sparks/Samm LLC

Monica Plecker
Highlight

Monica Plecker
Highlight

Monica Plecker
Highlight



Monica Plecker
Highlight



Monica Plecker
Highlight

Monica Plecker
Highlight

Monica Plecker
Highlight

Monica Plecker
Highlight



SIA 3978390

err *tincÎe²rk2ecorM°°/eio sten M

ElllF£1WMERMMMim E Ill

SUBDIVISION IMPROVEMENTS AGREEMENT

Mackenzie Meadows Subdivision,2nd Filing

This agreement ismade and enteredintothisÑday of h8 ,2021,by and
betweenSAMM, LLC, whose addressforthepurposeofthisagreementis2225 S 54TH
ST W, BILLINGS, MT 59106, hereinafterreferredto as "Subdivider,"and
YELLOWSTONE COUNTY, Montana,hereinafterreferredtoas"County."

WITNESSETH:

WHEREAS, ata regularmeetingconductedon day of M .,20
the Board of Planning recommended conditionalapprovalof a preliminaryplatof
MackenzieMeadows Subdivision,2nd Filing;and

WHEREAS, ata regularmeetingconductedon 1 day of . 20_M
the Yellowstone County Board of County Commissioners conditionallyapproved a

preliminaryplatofMackenzieMeadows Subdivision,2nd Filing;and

WHEREAS, a SubdivisionImprovementsAgreement isrequiredby theCounty prior
totheapprovaloftheflnalplat.

WHEREAS, the provisionsof thisagreement shallbe effectiveand applicableto

MackenzieMeadows Subdivision,2nd Filingupon thefilingofthefinalplatthereofinthe

officeoftheClerkand RecorderofYellowstoneCounty,Montana.The Subdivisionshall

comply with allrequirementsof the YellowstoneCounty SubdivisionRegulations,the

rules,regulations,policies,and resolutionsof YellowstoneCounty, and the laws and

administrativerulesoftheStateofMontana.

THEREFORE, THE PARTIES TO THIS AGREEMENT, for and in

considerationofthemutualpromiseshereincontainedand forothergood and valuable

consideration,do herebyagreeasfollows:

I. VARIANCES

Subdividerhasrequestedno variances.

IL CONDITIONS THAT RUN WITH THE LAND

A. Lot owners should be aware thatthissubdivisionis being builtin close

proximitytoprime deerand antelopehabitatand itislikelythathomeowners

willexperienceproblems with damage to landscapedshrubs,flowers,and

gardens.The Montana Fish,Wildlife,and ParksDepartmentdoes not provide

damage assistanceunlessthereisdamage tocommercialcropsand/ora threat

topublichealthand safety.

2 of15

Monica Plecker
Highlight



SIA 3978390

er a n c a co e o toneM

ElllFAMINDhMMHn th El Ill

B. Lot owners should be aware thatsoilcharacteristicswithinthe area of this

subdivision,as describedinthe 1972 YellowstoneCounty SoilSurvey,indicate

thattherecould be potentiallimitationsforproposed constructionon the lots,
which may requirea geotechnicalsurveypriortoconstruction.

C. No water rightshave been transferredto the lotowners. Irrigationditchesthat

existon theperimeterofthisdevelopmentareforthebenefitof otherproperties.
Perimeterditchesand drainsshallremain inplaceand shallnotbe alteredby the

Subdivideror subsequentowners.

D. There isattachedheretoa Waiver waiving therightto protestthe creationof

thespecialimprovement districtordistrictswhich by thisreferenceisexpressly

incorporatedherein and made as much a part hereof as though fullyand

completelysetforthhereinatthispoint.The Waiver willbe filedwiththeplat,
shallrunwiththeland,and shallconstitutetheguaranteeby theSubdividerand

propertyowner or owners of thedevelopments describedherein.Said Waiver

is effectiveupon filingand is not conditionedon the completion of the

conditionssetforthinthisAgreement. The Subdividerand owner specifically

agreethattheyarewaiving valuablerightsand do so voluntarily.

E. Culvertsand associateddrainageswalesshallnot be filledin or alteredby the

subdivideror subsequentlotowners.

F. When requiredby road improvements,allfencesand irrigationditchesin the

publicright-of-wayadjacentto thissubdivisionshallbe removed or relocated

outsideof thepublicright-of-wayand any relocationoutsideof thepublicright-

of-way shallbe subjecttosecuringand recordingeasements.

G. Future maintenance of allpublic(or common) improvements shallbe done

throughone (1)ormore RSID(s) createdaspartoftheSIA forthissubdivision.

H. A 50'wide pipelineeasementcrossesthroughLots19 through50 inclusive,Block

2; Lots 2 through9 inclusive,Block 9. No fences,buildings,sheds,or other

permanentstructurescan be builtwithinthiseasement.

III. TRANSPORTATION

The subdivideragreestoguaranteeallimprovements fora periodof one (1)year
from thedateof finalacceptanceby YellowstoneCounty.

3 ofl5

Monica Plecker
Highlight



SIA 3978390

El F.WEM M kWEAUMUMW El111

D. HeritageTrailPlan

Neibauer Road and South 56thStreetWest are identifiedas ArterialBike

Routes intheBillingsArea Bikeway and TrailsMaster Plan (BABTMP). A

15'traileasement isdedicatedalongNeibauer Road thatwillhave a paved
trail.

Abby Road is identifiedas a primary bikeway. No improvements are

planned.

Along the lengthof the BBWA, isa dedicated10'traileasement thatwill

be maintainasa naturaltrail.

IV. EMERGENCY SERVICE

Abby Road willserveasmain accesstothesubdivisionwithconnectionsto

both South 5682StreetWest and Neibauer Road. Both theseroadsare 60'

arterialroads.No improvements areplanned atthistime.

Both accesses will be built to Yellowstone County Paved Road

specifications.Itwillinclude24' of 3" pavement over 3" of 1 ½ inminus

crushedgravelover 12" of 3 inminus pitrunover a compacted subgrade.
The roadway willalsoinclude2' graveledshoulderswithbarrow ditches.

A 30,000-gallonwater storagetank/dryhydranthas been installedin the

easement areaon Lots 5 and 6 of Block 6 on thenorthsideofAbby Road.

Itwillservicetheentiresubdivisionminus Lot 9 of Block 9,and Lot 8 of

Block 10. The Subdividersubmitted the dry hydrant system plans and

specificationstotheBillingsFireDepartment forreviewand approvalprior
toconstruction.The dryhydrantsystem hasbeen installedby theSubdivider

and inspectedand approvedby theBillingsFireDepartment. RSID 853 will

be responsibleforfuturemaintenanceof allpublic(orcommon) constructed

improvements.
Lot 9 of Block 9, and Lot 8 of Block 10 willbe servicedfrom the dry-

hydranttanklocatedinConrad Park Subdivisiontothenorth.

All lotsinthe subdivisionthatbenefitfrom the Mackenzie Meadows dry

hydrantlocatedinBlock 6 willparticipateinthemaintenanceRSID.

All lotsinthe subdivisionthatbenefitfrom the Conrad Park Subdivision

dry-hydrantwillparticipateinthe Conrad Park Subdivisionmaintenance

RSID.

V. STORMDRAINAGE

All drainageimprovements shallcomply with the provisionsof the Section4.7,

YellowstoneCounty SubdivisionRegulations,and a stormwatermanagement plan

shallbe submittedtoand approved by MDEQ, or itsdesignee.

An RSID shallbe createdforcareand maintenanceofthestormfacilities.

The first,second, and thirdphase stormwater improvements of the

Subdivisionshallconsistof any conveyance,storage,or dischargefacility

which isan integralpartofeach phase'sdrainagesystem as describeinthe

5ofl5

Monica Plecker
Highlight



Returnto:
StevenD.Taylor
12617TaylorLane
Aurora,IN47001

55 2 31 53¼

Stewart TitleCompany

WARRANTY DEED

FOR A VALUABLE CONSIDERATION, receiptofwhich isacknowledged,the undersigned

Grantors,

CURTIS E.ARNEY and MARLENE H.ARNEY, Trusteesunder the CURTIS AND

MARLENE ARNEY LIVINGTRUST dated December 29, 2020, and any
amendments thereto,of 1834 N. MariposaLane,Billings,Montana 59102,

do hereby grant,bargain,sell,convey,warrantand confirmunto the Grantee,

STEVEN D.TAYLOR, of 12617 TaylorLane,Aurora,Indiana47001,

allof the GrantorTrust'sinterestinand to the following-describedrealpropertylocatedin

YellowstoneCounty,Montana:

Lot 13, Block8,of Mackenzie Meadows Subdivision,2nd Filing,
inthe Cityof Billings,accordingto the officialplaton fileinthe

officeof the Clerkand Recorderof YellowstoneCounty, Montana,

underDocumentNo.3978389.

TOGETHER WITH allimprovements, tenements, hereditaments,easements, rightsof way,
and appurtenancesthereonor theretoappertaining.

TO HAVE AND HOLD unto the Grantee,and Grantee'sheirsand assigns,forever,

SUBJECT, HOWEVER, to:

(a)Allreservations,easements, rights-of-way,and restrictionsof

recordpertainingto saidlands,or any thereof;

(b)Allexistingbuildingand use restrictionsand zoningordinances

pertainingto saidproperty;

(c)Alltaxes,charges,and assessments imposed on saidlands,or any

thereof,forthe currentyear and allsubsequent years;and

(d)Allpriorconveyances,leases,or transfersof any interestin

minerals,includingoil,gas,and otherhydrocarbons.

EXCEPT with referenceto the itemsreferredto inParagraphs(a)to (d),inclusive,

thisDeed isgivenwiththe usualcovenants expressedin§ 30-11-110, M.C.A.

Monica Plecker
Highlight



Monica Plecker
Highlight

Monica Plecker
Highlight

Monica Plecker
Highlight



Amended May 2025 

3. Sight distance must be provided as required by AASHTO. 
 

4. The approach grade shall conform to the slope of the roadway shoulder where practical and 
if possible be equal to or less than three (3) percent slope for a distance of twenty (20) feet 
back from the public road surface unless otherwise approved by the County. 
 

5. The approach shall intersect the public road at an angle of ninety (90) degrees (plus or 
minus ten (10) degrees) to the roadway. 
 

6. The residential approach width shall be between twelve (12) feet and thirty (30) feet, not 
inclusive of any radius between the approach and the public road. Lots with frontages of 
more than 150’ may have up to a 50’ approach. 

 
7. Approaches for driveways and roadways shall be constructed from the edge of the traveled 

way the approach accesses to the boundary of the road right of way. 
 

8. When an approach accesses a hard‐surfaced arterial, collector, or minor collector, the 
approach must be built with hard surfacing. Hard surfacing can be accomplished with either 
concrete or asphalt.  For gravel public roads and hard surfaced low traffic volume (less than 
400 ADT), low speed (30 mph or lower) roads within subdivisions, hard surfacing of the 
approach is not required. 

 
9. The radius for an approach serving a single‐family residence or two‐family residence shall 

be ten (10) feet. The radius for an approach serving a multi‐family residential project, a 
commercial or institutional development, and a road shall be twenty (20) feet. 

 
10. Commercial approaches connecting to hard surfaced public roads are required to provide 

hard surfacing for the length and width of the approach within the right‐of‐way. Hard 
surfacing shall be an engineered design to meet necessary loading and site‐specific 
requirements, but at a minimum shall be constructed within the right‐of‐way as follows: 
 

a. Concrete of sufficient thickness to provide adequate support for the largest AASHTO 
design vehicle anticipated to regularly access the facility over an approved base 
material; or 

b. Asphalt of sufficient thickness to provide adequate support for the largest AASHTO 
design vehicle anticipated to regularly access the facility and over an approved base 
material. 

 
11. Commercial approaches to a graveled public road shall be an engineered design.  

 
12. All approaches shall meet sight distances as required by AASHTO. 

 

Monica Plecker
Highlight



Amended May 2025 

13. The minimum spacing between the near edge of an approach and a road intersection 
centerline must be at least one hundred (100) feet plus the appropriate approach radius. 
On local streets with speed limits of 25 mph or less a distance less than 100’ may be 
approved by Public Works. 

 
14. The minimum spacing from the near edges of an approach on either an adjacent property 

or the same property shall be fifty (50) feet. 
 

15. Existing drainage in the public road right‐of‐way shall not be altered or impeded without 
specific written approval from the Montana Department of Environmental Quality.  In cases 
outside of subdivisions or in subdivisions with no storm water management plan, specific 
written approval from YCPW will be required. 

 
16. Drainage from an adjacent approach, private road, or structure is not allowed to discharge 

onto the public road. When an approved grading and drainage plan/DEQ approval exists, 
approaches shall be installed in conformance with the approved plan.  

 
17. All culverts used in the construction of an approach in a public road right‐of‐way must have 

a minimum diameter of fifteen (15) inches as specified in Standard Drawing 140 - 
APPROACH STANDARDS (http://www.co.yellowstone.mt.gov/publicworks/geninfo.asp) 
unless a smaller diameter culvert is specified on an engineered drainage plan and/or is 
approved by the Public Works Department and must be either double‐wall smooth interior 
high‐density polyethylene (HDPE), corrugated metal pipe (CMP) or reinforced concrete pipe 
(RCP) or other approved similar material. The minimum amount of cover material over the 
culvert shall be that recommended by the culvert manufacturer. 
 

14.8  Design and Geometric Requirements 
 
Approaches shall meet the dimensional standards contained in Standard Drawing 140 – 
APPROACH STANDARDS. 
 
14.9  Penalty/Enforcement 
 
If Yellowstone County determines an approach is not in substantial compliance with these 
standards, the County will notify the property owner with the approach of the deficiency and 
request the property owner correct the deficiency. If property owner does not address the 
deficiency within 30 days of notice from the County, either by corrective action or by notifying 
the County of a proposal for corrective action and then get approval for said corrective action 
with an agreed upon timeline, the County will treat the approach as encroachment and take 
appropriate action to remedy the situation in accordance with Sections 7‐14‐2134 through 7‐14‐
2138, MCA. 
 

Monica Plecker
Highlight









   
B.O.C.C. Regular 1. a.        
Meeting Date: 11/25/2025  
Title: Board Reappointment
Submitted By: Erika Guy

TOPIC:
Board Reappointment - Linda Lien to Historic Preservation Board

BACKGROUND:
See Attached

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
Sign and Mail

Attachments
Linda Lien 





   
B.O.C.C. Regular 1. b.        
Meeting Date: 11/25/2025  
Title: Board Openings
Submitted By: Erika Guy

TOPIC:
Board Openings - Updated List
 

BACKGROUND:
See Attached

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
Post

Attachments
Board Openings 



 

November 25, 2025 

LOCKWOOD URBAN TRANSPORTATION DISTRICT 4 year             2 full to 5/2/28 

 NOTE: To be eligible for the above special district boards, applicants must live OR own 

property within the boundaries of the district. 

 

APPLICATIONS FOR THE ABOVE POSITIONS WILL BE ACCEPTED 

UNTIL 5:00PM ON THURSDAY, December 25, 2025 

 

November 4, 2025 

   CITY/COUNTY PLANNING: DIST 3 2 year 1 full to 12/31/26 

   CITY/COUNTY PLANNING: DIST 4 2 year 1 full to 12/31/26 

 NOTE: To be eligible for the above special district boards, applicants must live AND own property within 

the boundaries of the district. To find which planning district you live in, please contact the City/County 

Planning Division at 247-8676. 

 

BROADVIEW CEMETERY 3 year 1 partial to 6/30/26 

BLUE CREEK FIRE SERVICE AREA 3 year 2 full to 5/8/27 

LAUREL CITY/COUNTY PLANNING 2 year 1 full to 6/30/26 

LAUREL FIRE DISTRICT #5 3 year 1 full to 5/1/28 

LAUREL FIRE DISTRICT #7  3 year 1 full to 5/1/28 

 NOTE: To be eligible for the above special district boards, applicants must live OR own property within the 

boundaries of the district. 

 

CONSOLIDATED ZONING COMMISSION 2 year                    1 full to 6/30/27 

 NOTE: Eligible applicants for the above board must live outside the city limits of Billings but within 4-1/2 

mile zoning boundary. 

 

LOCKWOOD PEDESTRIAN SAFETY DISTRICT ADV. 3 year 
                 2 partial to 12/31/26 
                  2 partial to 12/31/27 
                  2 full to 12/31/28 

AREA II AGENCY ON AGING  1 year                   1 full to 6/30/26 

YELLOWSTONE COUNTY MUSEUM 3 year                   1 full to 6/30/28 

 

 

APPLICATIONS FOR THE ABOVE POSITIONS WILL BE ACCEPTED 

UNTIL 5:00PM ON THURSDAY, December 4, 2025 

 

 

 



   
B.O.C.C. Regular        
Meeting Date: 11/25/2025  
Title: MOU with Alternatives HEART Grant
Submitted By: Teri Reitz, Board Clerk

TOPIC:
MOU and Agreement to Sub-Contract between Yellowstone County Sheriff's Office and Alternatives, Inc.
 

BACKGROUND:
The Sheriff's Office has been awarded funding to pilot programs addressing substance use disorder,
mental health, and criminal transition programs in Yellowstone County from the Montana DPHHS,
HEART Grant.  Alternatives is a licensed, insured, and processional agency with nearly 45 years of
criminal justice case management experience and can provide services necessary to implement this
project.  

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
Approve or deny. 

Attachments
Alternatives Sub-Contract 

















   
B.O.C.C. Regular 3. a.        
Meeting Date: 11/25/2025  
Title: Recommendation of Award - Metra Crowd Management Services
Submitted For:  Matt Kessler, Purchasing Agent 
Submitted By: Matt Kessler, Purchasing Agent

TOPIC:
Recommendation of Award - Metra Crowd Management Services

BACKGROUND:
A Request for Proposals was released on October 21st, 2025, seeking proposals for crowd management
services for MetraPark. Responses were received from Shield Event Services, CMS/Starplex, and Best
Crowd Management and were opened and acknowledged by the Commissioners on November 12th, and
November 18th. Commissioners opened and acknowledged Best Crowd Management's proposal on
November 18th because FedEx delivered to the wrong address. It was found that the box was addressed
correctly and it was delivered within the deadline timeframe. Since the participant was not at fault for this
mistake, it was decided to accept the proposal.

A selection committee reviewed responses and proposals were discussed and scored. It is the
recommendation of the committee to award Best Crowd Management and proceed with contract
negotiations.

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
Approve Notice of Intent to Award and return a copy to Finance.

Attachments
NOIA - Metra Crowd Management 
Metra Crowd Management Services RFP Scoring 
Crowd Management Services Tab Sheet 
Crowd Management Services Tab Sheet (2) 



Yellowstone County 

Finance Department 

Notice of Intent to Award 

Solicitation Title: Metra Crowd Management Services RFP 

Solicitation Close Date: November 10th, 2025 

Notice of Intent to Award Posting Date: November 25th, 2025 

Yellowstone County intends to award a contract to the apparent successful bidder/offeror 
of the above-mentioned solicitation. This Notice of Intent to Award shall not be considered 
a binding commitment by the County. 

In accordance with relevant statutes and policies, the County has made available for 
public inspection the relevant bid tab/scoring matrix for the above-mentioned solicitation. 
Comments from the public regarding the proposed award must be submitted in writing to 
the Purchasing Agent at the email address listed below within this seven-day notice period. 

Purchasing Agent/Contact Information: Matt Kessler, mkessler@yellowstonecountymt.gov 

Apparent Successful Offeror(s) 
Best Crowd Management 

Unsuccessful Offeror(s) 
Shield Event Services 
CMS/Starplex 

mailto:mkessler@yellowstonecountymt.gov


Metra Crowd Management Services RFP Scoring 
 
The selection committee used the following scoring criteria for evaluating proposals. 
 
Proposer’s previous similar experience, financial condition and capability – 35 points 
Cost – 30 points 
Proposed solution – 35 points 
 
There were 6 committee members, making a total of 600 points possible per proposal. 
 
 

Participant Total Score 
Best Crowd Management 527 
Shield Event Services 448 
CMS N/A 

 
 



 
YELLOWSTONE COUNTY BID TABULATION FORM 

Department: MetraPark Date:  Wednesday November 12, 2025 

Project: Request for Proposals for Crowd Management Services 

 
Vendor Name 

 
Bid Bond 

 
Open and 

Acknowledge 

 
 

  

CMS No Bid 
Bond 

X    

      

Shield Event Services X 
Cashier’s 

Check 

X 
 

   

      

      

      

      

      

      

 



 
YELLOWSTONE COUNTY BID TABULATION FORM 

Department: MetraPark Date:  Tuesday November 17, 2025 

Project: Request for Proposals for Crowd Management Services 

 
Vendor Name 

 
Bid Bond 

 
Open and 

Acknowledge 

 
 

  

Whelan Security  X X    

      

      

      

      

      

      

      

      

 



   
B.O.C.C. Regular 3. b.        
Meeting Date: 11/25/2025  
Title: Notice of Award - Cedar Hall Renovation IFB
Submitted For:  Matt Kessler, Purchasing Agent 
Submitted By: Matt Kessler, Purchasing Agent

TOPIC:
Notice of Award & Contract - Cedar Hall Renovation
 

BACKGROUND:
An Invitation for Bids was released on September 30th, 2025, seeking bids for the renovation of Cedar
Hall for the Elections Department. Bids were received from R&R Taylor Construction, Yellowstone Basin
Construction, Cucancic Construction, Swank Enterprises, Jackson Contractor Group, Langlas &
Associates and TW Ridley Construction, and were opened and read aloud by the Commissioners on
October 28th, 2025. A selection committee reviewed the bids and recommended to award the contract to
Yellowstone Basin Construction, which the BOCC approved on November 18th, 2025. The value of the
contract with YBC is for $773,210.00, including a 5% construction contingency.

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
Approve notice, sign contract and return a copy to Finance.

Attachments
Notice of Award - Cedar Hall Renovation IFB 
YBC Contract - Cedar Hall 



Yellowstone County 

Finance Department 

Notice of Award 

Date of Issuance: November 25th, 2025 

Solicitation Title: Cedar Hall Renovation IFB 

Solicitation Close Date: October 20th, 2025 

Bidder: Yellowstone Basin Construction 

Bidder’s Address: 3970 Avenue D, Suite A, Billings, MT 59102 

This document shall serve as notifications that Yellowstone Basin Construction is the 
successful bidder for the Cedar Hall Renovation IFB for the base sum of $773,210.00. A 
formal contract will follow this document. 



AIA
®

Document A105™ – 2017 
Standard Short Form of Agreement Between Owner and 
Contractor

AIA Document A105™ – 2017. Copyright © 1993, 2007 and 2017 by The American Institute of Architects. All rights reserved. The “American 
Institute of Architects,” “AIA,” the AIA Logo, and “AIA Contract Documents” are registered trademarks and may not be used without 
permission. This draft was produced by AIA software at 15:53:49 ET on 05/26/2020 under Order No.3132341331 which expires on 08/13/2020, is 
not for resale, is licensed for one-time use only, and may only be used in accordance with the AIA Contract Documents® Terms of Service. To 
report copyright violations, e-mail copyright@aia.org. 
User Notes:  (1967413867) 

1

ADDITIONS AND DELETIONS: 
The author of this document 
has added information 
needed for its completion. 
The author may also have 
revised the text of the 
original AIA standard form. 
An Additions and Deletions 
Report that notes added 
information as well as 
revisions to the standard 
form text is available from 
the author and should be 
reviewed.

This document has important 
legal consequences. 
Consultation with an 
attorney is encouraged with 
respect to its completion 
or modification.

ELECTRONIC COPYING of any 
portion of this AIA®  Document 
to another electronic file is 
prohibited and constitutes a 
violation of copyright laws 
as set forth in the footer of 
this document.

AGREEMENT made as of the « twenty-fifth» day of « November » in the year «2025» 
(In words, indicate day, month and year.)

BETWEEN the Owner:
(Name, legal status, address and other information)

«Yellowstone County »«  »
«PO Box 35000 » 
«Billings, MT 59107 » 

and the Contractor:
(Name, legal status, address and other information)

« Yellowstone Basin Construction »«  »
« 3970 Avenue D, Suite A » 
« Billings, MT 59102 » 

for the following Project:
(Name, location and detailed description)

« Elections Department, Cedar Hall Renovation » 
«MetraPark » 
«Billings, MT  » 

The Architect:
(Name, legal status, address and other information)

«CTA Inc. dba Cushing Terrell »«  »
«13 North 23rd Street » 
« Billings, MT 59101 » 
« Phone: 406-248-7455 » 

The Owner and Contractor agree as follows.



AIA Document A105™ – 2017. Copyright © 1993, 2007 and 2017 by The American Institute of Architects. All rights reserved. The “American 
Institute of Architects,” “AIA,” the AIA Logo, and “AIA Contract Documents” are registered trademarks and may not be used without 
permission. This draft was produced by AIA software at 15:53:49 ET on 05/26/2020 under Order No.3132341331 which expires on 08/13/2020, is 
not for resale, is licensed for one-time use only, and may only be used in accordance with the AIA Contract Documents® Terms of Service. To 
report copyright violations, e-mail copyright@aia.org. 
User Notes:  (1967413867) 

2

TABLE OF ARTICLES

1 THE CONTRACT DOCUMENTS

2 DATE OF COMMENCEMENT AND SUBSTANTIAL COMPLETION

3 CONTRACT SUM

4 PAYMENTS

5 INSURANCE

6 GENERAL PROVISIONS

7 OWNER

8 CONTRACTOR

9 ARCHITECT

10 CHANGES IN THE WORK

11 TIME

12 PAYMENTS AND COMPLETION

13 PROTECTION OF PERSONS AND PROPERTY

14 CORRECTION OF WORK

15 MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS

16 TERMINATION OF THE CONTRACT

17 OTHER TERMS AND CONDITIONS

ARTICLE 1   THE CONTRACT DOCUMENTS
The Contractor shall complete the Work described in the Contract Documents for the Project. The Contract 
Documents consist of

.1 this Agreement signed by the Owner and Contractor;

.2 the drawings and specifications prepared by the Architect, dated «July 25, 2025  », and enumerated as 
follows:

Drawings:
Number Title Date

G001
G100

S101
S001
S002
S100
S102
S201

GENERAL
COVER SHEET
CODE PLANS

STRUCTURAL
FIRST FLOOR FRAMING PLAN
STRUCTURAL GENERAL NOTES
STRUCTURAL GENERAL NOTS
FOUNDATION PLAN
CEILING FRAMING PLAN
STRUCTURAL DETAILS
ARCHITECTURAL

7-25-25
7-25-25

7-25-25
7-25-25
7-25-25
7-25-25
7-25-25
7-25-25



AIA Document A105™ – 2017. Copyright © 1993, 2007 and 2017 by The American Institute of Architects. All rights reserved. The “American 
Institute of Architects,” “AIA,” the AIA Logo, and “AIA Contract Documents” are registered trademarks and may not be used without 
permission. This draft was produced by AIA software at 15:53:49 ET on 05/26/2020 under Order No.3132341331 which expires on 08/13/2020, is 
not for resale, is licensed for one-time use only, and may only be used in accordance with the AIA Contract Documents® Terms of Service. To 
report copyright violations, e-mail copyright@aia.org. 
User Notes:  (1967413867) 

3

AD100
A101
A301
A401
A501
A601
A701
A702
A703
A901

P001
P002
P101
P102

M001
M100

E001
E002
E003
E100
E200
E300

T001
T400

DEMOLITION PLAN
FLOOR PLAN
BUILDING SECTIONS
RAMPS
FINISH PLANS, SCHEDULES AND DETAILS
DOORS AND WINDOW SCHEDULES AND DETAILS
ENLARGED PLANS / INTERIOR ELEVATIONS
ENLARGED PLANS / INTERIOR ELEVATIONS
INTERIOR ELEVATIONS / CASEWORK DETAILS
REFLECTED CEILING  PLANS

PLUMBING
PLUMBING SCHEDULES AND LEGENDS
PLUMBING SPECIFICATIONS
PLUMBING DMV PLANS
PLUMBING DOMESTIC WATER PLANS

MECHANICAL
HVAC SCHEDULES & LEGENDS
HVAC PLANS

ELECTRICAL
LEGENDS, SCHEDULES AND PANELS
ELECTRICAL SCHEDULES AND ONELINE
ELECTRICAL SPECIFICATIONS
SITE PLAN
LIGHTING PLANS
POWER PLANS

TECHNOLOGY
LEGENDS AND SCHEDULES
SYSTEM PLAN

7-25-25
7-25-25
7-25-25
7-25-25
7-25-25
7-25-25
7-25-25
7-25-25
7-25-25
7-25-25

7-25-25
7-25-25
7-25-25
7-25-25

7-25-25
7-25-25

7-25-25
7-25-25
7-25-25
7-25-25
7-25-25
7-25-25

7-25-25
7-25-25

Specifications:
Section Title Pages

000101
000107
000115

DIVISION 01
010000
011000
012000
012500
012600
012900
013100
013233
013300
014000
015000
016000
017300
017419
017700

PROCUREMENT AND CONTRACTING REQUIREMENTS
Project Title Page
Seals Page
List of Drawing Sheets
Montana Prevailing Wage Rates 2025

GENERAL REQUIREMENTS
General Requirements
Summary
Alternates
Substitution Procedures
Contract Modification Procedures
Payment Procedures
Project Management and Coordination
Photographic Documentation
Submittal Procedures
Quality Requirements
Temporary Facilities and Control
Product Requirements
Execution
Construction Waste Management and Disposal
Closeout Procedures



AIA Document A105™ – 2017. Copyright © 1993, 2007 and 2017 by The American Institute of Architects. All rights reserved. The “American 
Institute of Architects,” “AIA,” the AIA Logo, and “AIA Contract Documents” are registered trademarks and may not be used without 
permission. This draft was produced by AIA software at 15:53:49 ET on 05/26/2020 under Order No.3132341331 which expires on 08/13/2020, is 
not for resale, is licensed for one-time use only, and may only be used in accordance with the AIA Contract Documents® Terms of Service. To 
report copyright violations, e-mail copyright@aia.org. 
User Notes:  (1967413867) 

4

017823
017839

DIVISION 02

DIVISION 03

DIVISION 04

DIVISION 05

DIVISION 06

DIVISION 07

DIVISION 08
080000

DIVISION 09

DIVISION 10

DIVISION 11

DIVISION 12

DIVISION 13

DIVISION 14

DIVISION 21

DIVISION 22

DIVISION 23
230500
230553
230593
230713
230719
232123
232300
233113
233330
233400
233713.13
233713.23
235416.13
238239.19

DIVISION 26

DIVISION 27
270000
270500

Operation and Maintenance Data
Project Record Drawings
Substitution Request Form

EXISTING CONDITIONS – NOT USED

CONCRETE – NOT USED

MASONROY – NOT USED

METALS – NOT USED

WOOD, PLASTICS, AND COMPOSITS – NOT USED

THERMAL AND MOISTURE PROTECTION – NOT USED

OPENINGS
Fixed Louvers

FINISHES – NOT USED

SPECIALTIES – NOT USED

EQUIPMENT – NOT USED

FURNISHINGS – NOT USED

SPECIAL CONSTRUCTION – NOT USED

CONVEYING EQUIPMENT – NOT USED

FIRE SUPPRESSION – NOT USED

PLUMBING – NOT USED

HEATING, VENTILATING, AND AIR CONDITIONING (HVAC)
HVAC Piping Insulation
Identification for HVAC Piping and Requirement
Testing, Adjusting, and Balancing for HVAC
Duct Insulation
HVAC Piping Insulation
Hydronic Pumps
Refrigerant Piping
Metal Ducts
Air Duct Accessories
HVAC Dans
Air Diffusers
Air Registers and Grilles
Gas-Fired Furnaces
Wall and Ceiling Unit Heaters

ELECTRICAL – NOT USED

COMMUNICATIONS
Communication General Requirements
Common Work Results for Communications



AIA Document A105™ – 2017. Copyright © 1993, 2007 and 2017 by The American Institute of Architects. All rights reserved. The “American 
Institute of Architects,” “AIA,” the AIA Logo, and “AIA Contract Documents” are registered trademarks and may not be used without 
permission. This draft was produced by AIA software at 15:53:49 ET on 05/26/2020 under Order No.3132341331 which expires on 08/13/2020, is 
not for resale, is licensed for one-time use only, and may only be used in accordance with the AIA Contract Documents® Terms of Service. To 
report copyright violations, e-mail copyright@aia.org. 
User Notes:  (1967413867) 

5

270529
270544
270553
271116
271313
271323
271523

DIVISON 28
280500
284621.11

DIVISION 31

DIVISION 32

DIVISION 33

Hanger and Supports for Communications System 
Sleeves and Sleeve Seals for Communications Pathways and Cabling
Identification for Communications Systems
Communications Racks, Frames and Enclosures
Communications Copper Backbone Cabling
Communications Optical Fiber Backbone Cabling
Communications Optical Fiber Horizontal Cabling

ELECTRONIC SAFETY AND SECURITY
Common Work Results for Electronic Safety and Security
Addressable Fire-Alarm Systems

EARTHWORK – NOT USED

EXTERIOR IMPROVEMENTS – NOT USED

UTILITIES – NOT USED

.3 addenda prepared by the Architect as follows:
Number Date Pages
 One (1) October 17. 2025 44

.4 written orders for changes in the Work, pursuant to Article 10, issued after execution of this 
Agreement; and

.5 other documents, if any, identified as follows:

«NONE  » 

ARTICLE 2 DATE OF COMMENCEMENT AND SUBSTANTIAL COMPLETION
§ 2.1 The Contract Time is the number of calendar days available to the Contractor to substantially complete the
Work.

§ 2.2 Date of Commencement:
Unless otherwise set forth below, the date of commencement shall be the date of this Agreement.
(Insert the date of commencement if other than the date of this Agreement.)

«December 15th. If the notice to proceed is issued to Contractor after December 15th, the Substantial completion date 
will be 112 calendar days after the date that the notice has been issued. » 

§ 2.3 Substantial Completion:
Subject to adjustments of the Contract Time as provided in the Contract Documents, the Contractor shall achieve
Substantial Completion, as defined in Section 12.5, of the entire Work:
(Check the appropriate box and complete the necessary information.)

[ « X » ] Not later than «April 6th, 2026 » ( «112 » ) calendar days from the date of commencement.

[ « » ] By the following date: « »

ARTICLE 3   CONTRACT SUM
§ 3.1 The Contract Sum shall include all items and services necessary for the proper execution and completion of
the Work. Subject to additions and deductions in accordance with Article 10, the Contract Sum is:

«Seven hundred seventy-three thousand, two hundred ten dollars and 00/100 » ($ «773,210.00»)

§ 3.2 For purposes of payment, the Contract Sum includes the following values related to portions of the Work:
(Itemize the Contract Sum among the major portions of the Work.)



AIA Document A105™ – 2017. Copyright © 1993, 2007 and 2017 by The American Institute of Architects. All rights reserved. The “American 
Institute of Architects,” “AIA,” the AIA Logo, and “AIA Contract Documents” are registered trademarks and may not be used without 
permission. This draft was produced by AIA software at 15:53:49 ET on 05/26/2020 under Order No.3132341331 which expires on 08/13/2020, is 
not for resale, is licensed for one-time use only, and may only be used in accordance with the AIA Contract Documents® Terms of Service. To 
report copyright violations, e-mail copyright@aia.org. 
User Notes:  (1967413867) 

6

Portion of the Work Value
Base Bid
Alternate #1 – Lighting Wireless Controls
Alternate #2 – Demo & Replace ACT Ceiling
Alternate #3 – New Furred Wall at Lobby
5% Construction Contingency

$621,200.00
$  10,445.00
$  72,745.00
$  32,000.00
$  36,820.00

§ 3.3 The Contract Sum is based upon the following alternates, if any, which are described in the Contract
Documents and hereby accepted by the Owner:
(Identify the accepted alternates. If the bidding or proposal documents permit the Owner to accept other alternates
subsequent to the execution of this Agreement, attach a schedule of such other alternates showing the amount for
each and the date when that amount expires.)

«N/A  » 

§ 3.4 Allowances, if any, included in the Contract Sum are as follows:
(Identify each allowance.)

Item Price
 N/A

§ 3.5 Unit prices, if any, are as follows:
(Identify the item and state the unit price and quantity limitations, if any, to which the unit price will be applicable.)

Item Units and Limitations Price per Unit ($0.00)

 N/A

ARTICLE 4   PAYMENTS 
§ 4.1 Based on Contractor’s Applications for Payment certified by the Architect, the Owner shall pay the
Contractor, in accordance with Article 12, as follows:
(Insert below timing for payments and provisions for withholding retainage, if any.)

«Payments will be made by the last day of the month for the previous month, providing the Payment Application is 
received by the 1st day of the month. Five percent (5%) Retainage and one percent (1%) Gross Receipts Tax will be 
withheld from the monthly payments. » 

§ 4.2 Payments due and unpaid under the Contract Documents shall bear interest from the date payment is due at the
rate below, or in the absence thereof, at the legal rate prevailing at the place of the Project.
(Insert rate of interest agreed upon, if any.)

«0 » % «Zero » 

ARTICLE 5   INSURANCE
§ 5.1 The Contractor shall maintain the following types and limits of insurance until the expiration of the period for
correction of Work as set forth in Section 14.2, subject to the terms and conditions set forth in this Section 5.1:

§ 5.1.1 Commercial General Liability insurance for the Project, written on an occurrence form, with policy limits of not
less than «Seven hundred fifty-thousand dollars » ($ «750,000.00 » ) each occurrence, «One million, five hundred
thousand dollars  » ($ «1,500,000.00 » ) general aggregate, and «One million, five hundred thousand dollars » ($
«1,500,000.00  » ) aggregate for products-completed operations hazard.

§ 5.1.2 Automobile Liability covering vehicles owned, and non-owned vehicles used, by the Contractor, with policy
limits of not less than «  » ($ «  » ) per accident, for bodily injury, death of any person, and property damage arising
out of the ownership, maintenance, and use of those motor vehicles along with any other statutorily required
automobile coverage.



§ 6.1 The Contract
The Contract represents the entire and integrated agreement between the parties and supersedes prior negotiations, 
representations or agreements, either written or oral. The Contract may be amended or modified only by a written 
modification in accordance with Article 10.

§ 6.2 The Work
The term “Work” means the construction and services required by the Contract Documents, and includes all other 
labor, materials, equipment, and services provided, or to be provided, by the Contractor to fulfill the Contractor’s 
obligations.

§ 6.3 Intent
The intent of the Contract Documents is to include all items necessary for the proper execution and completion of 
the Work by the Contractor. The Contract Documents are complementary, and what is required by one shall be as 
binding as if required by all.

§ 6.4 Ownership and Use of Architect’s Drawings, Specifications and Other Documents
Documents prepared by the Architect are instruments of the Architect’s service for use solely with respect to this 
Project. The Architect shall retain all common law, statutory, and other reserved rights, including the copyright. The 
Contractor, subcontractors, sub-subcontractors, and suppliers are authorized to use and reproduce the instruments of

AIA Document A105™ – 2017. Copyright © 1993, 2007 and 2017 by The American Institute of Architects. All rights reserved. The “American 
Institute of Architects,” “AIA,” the AIA Logo, and “AIA Contract Documents” are registered trademarks and may not be used without 
permission. This draft was produced by AIA software at 15:53:49 ET on 05/26/2020 under Order No.3132341331 which expires on 08/13/2020, is 
not for resale, is licensed for one-time use only, and may only be used in accordance with the AIA Contract Documents® Terms of Service. To 
report copyright violations, e-mail copyright@aia.org. 
User Notes:  (1967413867) 

7

§ 5.1.3 The Contractor may achieve the required limits and coverage for Commercial General Liability and
Automobile Liability through a combination of primary and excess or umbrella liability insurance, provided that
such primary and excess or umbrella insurance policies result in the same or greater coverage as those required
under Section 5.1.1 and 5.1.2, and in no event shall any excess or umbrella liability insurance provide narrower
coverage than the primary policy. The excess policy shall not require exhaustion of the underlying limits only
through the actual payment by the underlying insurers.

§ 5.1.4 Workers’ Compensation at statutory limits.

§ 5.1.5 Employers’ Liability with policy limits not less than «  » ($ «  » ) each accident, «  » ($ «  » ) each employee,
and «  » ($ «  » ) policy limit.

§ 5.1.6 The Contractor shall provide builder’s risk insurance to cover the total value of the entire Project on a
replacement cost basis.

§ 5.1.7 Other Insurance Provided by the Contractor
(List below any other insurance coverage to be provided by the Contractor and any applicable limits.)

Coverage Limits
N/A

§ 5.2 The Owner shall be responsible for purchasing and maintaining the Owner’s usual liability insurance and shall
provide property insurance to cover the value of the Owner’s property. The Contractor is entitled to receive an
increase in the Contract Sum equal to the insurance proceeds related to a loss for damage to the Work covered by the
Owner’s property insurance.

§ 5.3 The Contractor shall obtain an endorsement to its Commercial General Liability insurance policy to provide
coverage for the Contractor’s obligations under Section 8.12.

§ 5.4 Prior to commencement of the Work, each party shall provide certificates of insurance showing their
respective coverages.

§ 5.5 Unless specifically precluded by the Owner’s property insurance policy, the Owner and Contractor waive all
rights against (1) each other and any of their subcontractors, suppliers, agents, and employees, each of the other; and
(2) the Architect, Architect’s consultants, and any of their agents and employees, for damages caused by fire or other
causes of loss to the extent those losses are covered by property insurance or other insurance applicable to the
Project, except such rights as they have to the proceeds of such insurance.

ARTICLE 6   GENERAL PROVISIONS



AIA Document A105™ – 2017. Copyright © 1993, 2007 and 2017 by The American Institute of Architects. All rights reserved. The “American 
Institute of Architects,” “AIA,” the AIA Logo, and “AIA Contract Documents” are registered trademarks and may not be used without 
permission. This draft was produced by AIA software at 15:53:49 ET on 05/26/2020 under Order No.3132341331 which expires on 08/13/2020, is 
not for resale, is licensed for one-time use only, and may only be used in accordance with the AIA Contract Documents® Terms of Service. To 
report copyright violations, e-mail copyright@aia.org. 
User Notes:  (1967413867) 

8

service solely and exclusively for execution of the Work. The instruments of service may not be used for other 
Projects or for additions to this Project outside the scope of the Work without the specific written consent of the 
Architect. 

§ 6.5 Electronic Notice
Written notice under this Agreement may be given by one party to the other by email as set forth below.
(Insert requirements for delivering written notice by email such as name, title, and email address of the recipient,
and whether and how the system will be required to generate a read receipt for the transmission.)

«Matt Kessler, Yellowstone County – Purchasing Agent: mkessler@yellowstonecountymt.gov» 
«Jeff Rupp, Cushing Terrell – Project Manager: jeffrupp@cushingterrell.com» 

ARTICLE 7   OWNER
§ 7.1 Information and Services Required of the Owner
§ 7.1.1 If requested by the Contractor, the Owner shall furnish all necessary surveys and a legal description of the
site.

§ 7.1.2 Except for permits and fees under Section 8.7.1 that are the responsibility of the Contractor, the Owner shall
obtain and pay for other necessary approvals, easements, assessments, and charges.

§ 7.1.3 Prior to commencement of the Work, at the written request of the Contractor, the Owner shall furnish to the
Contractor reasonable evidence that the Owner has made financial arrangements to fulfill the Owner’s obligations
under the Contract. The Contractor shall have no obligation to commence the Work until the Owner provides such
evidence.

§ 7.2 Owner’s Right to Stop the Work
If the Contractor fails to correct Work which is not in accordance with the Contract Documents, the Owner may
direct the Contractor in writing to stop the Work until the correction is made.

§ 7.3 Owner’s Right to Carry Out the Work
If the Contractor defaults or neglects to carry out the Work in accordance with the Contract Documents and fails
within a seven day period after receipt of written notice from the Owner to commence and continue correction of
such default or neglect with diligence and promptness, the Owner may, without prejudice to other remedies, correct
such deficiencies. In such case, the Architect may withhold or nullify a Certificate for Payment in whole or in part,
to the extent reasonably necessary to reimburse the Owner for the cost of correction, provided the actions of the
Owner and amounts charged to the Contractor were approved by the Architect.

§ 7.4 Owner’s Right to Perform Construction and to Award Separate Contracts
§ 7.4.1 The Owner reserves the right to perform construction or operations related to the Project with the Owner’s
own forces, and to award separate contracts in connection with other portions of the Project.

§ 7.4.2 The Contractor shall coordinate and cooperate with the Owner’s own forces and separate contractors
employed by the Owner.

ARTICLE 8   CONTRACTOR
§ 8.1 Review of Contract Documents and Field Conditions by Contractor
§ 8.1.1 Execution of the Contract by the Contractor is a representation that the Contractor has visited the site,
become familiar with local conditions under which the Work is to be performed, and correlated personal
observations with requirements of the Contract Documents.

§ 8.1.2 The Contractor shall carefully study and compare the Contract Documents with each other and with
information furnished by the Owner. Before commencing activities, the Contractor shall (1) take field measurements
and verify field conditions; (2) carefully compare this and other information known to the Contractor with the
Contract Documents; and (3) promptly report errors, inconsistencies, or omissions discovered to the Architect.

§ 8.2 Contractor’s Construction Schedule
The Contractor, promptly after being awarded the Contract, shall prepare and submit for the Owner’s and
Architect’s information a Contractor’s construction schedule for the Work.



AIA Document A105™ – 2017. Copyright © 1993, 2007 and 2017 by The American Institute of Architects. All rights reserved. The “American 
Institute of Architects,” “AIA,” the AIA Logo, and “AIA Contract Documents” are registered trademarks and may not be used without 
permission. This draft was produced by AIA software at 15:53:49 ET on 05/26/2020 under Order No.3132341331 which expires on 08/13/2020, is 
not for resale, is licensed for one-time use only, and may only be used in accordance with the AIA Contract Documents® Terms of Service. To 
report copyright violations, e-mail copyright@aia.org.
User Notes: (1967413867)

9

§ 8.3 Supervision and Construction Procedures
§ 8.3.1 The Contractor shall supervise and direct the Work using the Contractor’s best skill and attention. The
Contractor shall be solely responsible for and have control over construction means, methods, techniques,
sequences, and procedures, and for coordinating all portions of the Work.

§ 8.3.2 The Contractor, as soon as practicable after award of the Contract, shall furnish in writing to the Owner,
through the Architect, the names of subcontractors or suppliers for each portion of the Work. The Contractor shall
not contract with any subcontractor or supplier to whom the Owner or Architect have made a timely and reasonable
objection.

§ 8.4 Labor and Materials
§ 8.4.1 Unless otherwise provided in the Contract Documents, the Contractor shall provide and pay for labor,
materials, equipment, tools, utilities, transportation, and other facilities and services necessary for proper execution
and completion of the Work.

§ 8.4.2 The Contractor shall enforce strict discipline and good order among the Contractor’s employees and other
persons carrying out the Contract Work. The Contractor shall not permit employment of unfit persons or persons not
skilled in tasks assigned to them.

§ 8.5 Warranty
The Contractor warrants to the Owner and Architect that: (1) materials and equipment furnished under the Contract
will be new and of good quality unless otherwise required or permitted by the Contract Documents; (2) the Work
will be free from defects not inherent in the quality required or permitted; and (3) the Work will conform to the
requirements of the Contract Documents. Any material or equipment warranties required by the Contract Documents
shall be issued in the name of the Owner, or shall be transferable to the Owner, and shall commence in accordance
with Section 12.5.

§ 8.6 Taxes
The Contractor shall pay sales, consumer, use, and similar taxes that are legally required when the Contract is
executed.

§ 8.7 Permits, Fees and Notices
§ 8.7.1 The Contractor shall obtain and pay for the building permit and other permits and governmental fees,
licenses, and inspections necessary for proper execution and completion of the Work.

§ 8.7.2 The Contractor shall comply with and give notices required by agencies having jurisdiction over the Work. If
the Contractor performs Work knowing it to be contrary to applicable laws, statutes, ordinances, codes, rules and
regulations, or lawful orders of public authorities, the Contractor shall assume full responsibility for such Work and
shall bear the attributable costs. The Contractor shall promptly notify the Architect in writing of any known
inconsistencies in the Contract Documents with such governmental laws, rules, and regulations.

§ 8.8 Submittals
The Contractor shall promptly review, approve in writing, and submit to the Architect shop drawings, product data,
samples, and similar submittals required by the Contract Documents. Shop drawings, product data, samples, and
similar submittals are not Contract Documents.

§ 8.9 Use of Site
The Contractor shall confine operations at the site to areas permitted by law, ordinances, permits, the Contract
Documents, and the Owner.

§ 8.10 Cutting and Patching
The Contractor shall be responsible for cutting, fitting, or patching required to complete the Work or to make its
parts fit together properly.



AIA Document A105™ – 2017. Copyright © 1993, 2007 and 2017 by The American Institute of Architects. All rights reserved. The “American 
Institute of Architects,” “AIA,” the AIA Logo, and “AIA Contract Documents” are registered trademarks and may not be used without 
permission. This draft was produced by AIA software at 15:53:49 ET on 05/26/2020 under Order No.3132341331 which expires on 08/13/2020, is 
not for resale, is licensed for one-time use only, and may only be used in accordance with the AIA Contract Documents® Terms of Service. To 
report copyright violations, e-mail copyright@aia.org.
User Notes: (1967413867)

10

§ 8.11 Cleaning Up
The Contractor shall keep the premises and surrounding area free from accumulation of debris and trash related to
the Work. At the completion of the Work, the Contractor shall remove its tools, construction equipment, machinery,
and surplus material; and shall properly dispose of waste materials.

§ 8.12 Indemnification
To the fullest extent permitted by law, the Contractor shall indemnify and hold harmless the Owner, Architect,
Architect’s consultants, and agents and employees of any of them, from and against claims, damages, losses and
expenses, including but not limited to attorneys’ fees, arising out of or resulting from performance of the Work,
provided that such claim, damage, loss, or expense is attributable to bodily injury, sickness, disease or death, or to
injury to or destruction of tangible property (other than the Work itself), but only to the extent caused by the
negligent acts or omissions of the Contractor, a subcontractor, anyone directly or indirectly employed by them or
anyone for whose acts they may be liable, regardless of whether or not such claim, damage, loss or expense is
caused in part by a party indemnified hereunder.

ARTICLE 9 ARCHITECT
§ 9.1 The Architect will provide administration of the Contract as described in the Contract Documents. The
Architect will have authority to act on behalf of the Owner only to the extent provided in the Contract Documents.

§ 9.2 The Architect will visit the site at intervals appropriate to the stage of construction to become generally
familiar with the progress and quality of the Work.

§ 9.3 The Architect will not have control over or charge of, and will not be responsible for, construction means,
methods, techniques, sequences, or procedures, or for safety precautions and programs in connection with the Work,
since these are solely the Contractor’s responsibility. The Architect will not be responsible for the Contractor’s
failure to carry out the Work in accordance with the Contract Documents.

§ 9.4 Based on the Architect’s observations and evaluations of the Contractor’s Applications for Payment, the
Architect will review and certify the amounts due the Contractor.

§ 9.5 The Architect has authority to reject Work that does not conform to the Contract Documents.

§ 9.6 The Architect will promptly review and approve or take appropriate action upon Contractor’s submittals, but
only for the limited purpose of checking for conformance with information given and the design concept expressed
in the Contract Documents.

§ 9.7 On written request from either the Owner or Contractor, the Architect will promptly interpret and decide
matters concerning performance under, and requirements of, the Contract Documents.

§ 9.8 Interpretations and decisions of the Architect will be consistent with the intent of, and reasonably inferable
from the Contract Documents, and will be in writing or in the form of drawings. When making such interpretations
and decisions, the Architect will endeavor to secure faithful performance by both Owner and Contractor, will not
show partiality to either and will not be liable for results of interpretations or decisions rendered in good faith.

§ 9.9 The Architect’s duties, responsibilities, and limits of authority as described in the Contract Documents shall
not be changed without written consent of the Owner, Contractor, and Architect. Consent shall not be unreasonably
withheld.

ARTICLE 10 CHANGES IN THE WORK
§ 10.1 The Owner, without invalidating the Contract, may order changes in the Work within the general scope of the
Contract, consisting of additions, deletions or other revisions, and the Contract Sum and Contract Time shall be
adjusted accordingly, in writing. If the Owner and Contractor cannot agree to a change in the Contract Sum, the
Owner shall pay the Contractor its actual cost plus reasonable overhead and profit.

§ 10.2 The Architect may authorize or order minor changes in the Work that are consistent with the intent of the
Contract Documents and do not involve an adjustment in the Contract Sum or an extension of the Contract Time.
Such authorization or order shall be in writing and shall be binding on the Owner and Contractor. The Contractor
shall proceed with such minor changes promptly.



AIA Document A105™ – 2017. Copyright © 1993, 2007 and 2017 by The American Institute of Architects. All rights reserved. The “American 
Institute of Architects,” “AIA,” the AIA Logo, and “AIA Contract Documents” are registered trademarks and may not be used without 
permission. This draft was produced by AIA software at 15:53:49 ET on 05/26/2020 under Order No.3132341331 which expires on 08/13/2020, is 
not for resale, is licensed for one-time use only, and may only be used in accordance with the AIA Contract Documents® Terms of Service. To 
report copyright violations, e-mail copyright@aia.org.
User Notes: (1967413867)

11

§ 10.3 If concealed or unknown physical conditions are encountered at the site that differ materially from those
indicated in the Contract Documents or from those conditions ordinarily found to exist, the Contract Sum and
Contract Time shall be subject to equitable adjustment.

ARTICLE 11 TIME
§ 11.1 Time limits stated in the Contract Documents are of the essence of the Contract.

§ 11.2 If the Contractor is delayed at any time in progress of the Work by changes ordered in the Work, or by labor
disputes, fire, unusual delay in deliveries, unavoidable casualties, or other causes beyond the Contractor’s control,
the Contract Time shall be subject to equitable adjustment.

§ 11.3 Costs caused by delays or by improperly timed activities or defective construction shall be borne by the
responsible party.

ARTICLE 12 PAYMENTS AND COMPLETION
§ 12.1 Contract Sum
The Contract Sum stated in this Agreement, including authorized adjustments, is the total amount payable by the
Owner to the Contractor for performance of the Work under the Contract Documents.

§ 12.2 Applications for Payment
§ 12.2.1 At least ten days before the date established for each progress payment, the Contractor shall submit to the
Architect an itemized Application for Payment for Work completed in accordance with the values stated in this
Agreement. The Application shall be supported by data substantiating the Contractor’s right to payment as the
Owner or Architect may reasonably require, such as evidence of payments made to, and waivers of liens from,
subcontractors and suppliers. Payments shall be made on account of materials and equipment delivered and suitably
stored at the site for subsequent incorporation in the Work. If approved in advance by the Owner, payment may
similarly be made for materials and equipment stored, and protected from damage, off the site at a location agreed
upon in writing.

§ 12.2.2 The Contractor warrants that title to all Work covered by an Application for Payment will pass to the
Owner no later than the time of payment. The Contractor further warrants that upon submittal of an Application for
Payment, all Work for which Certificates for Payment have been previously issued and payments received from the
Owner shall, to the best of the Contractor’s knowledge, information, and belief, be free and clear of liens, claims,
security interests, or other encumbrances adverse to the Owner’s interests.

§ 12.3 Certificates for Payment
The Architect will, within seven days after receipt of the Contractor’s Application for Payment, either (1) issue to
the Owner a Certificate for Payment in the full amount of the Application for Payment, with a copy to the
Contractor; (2) issue to the Owner a Certificate for Payment for such amount as the Architect determines is properly
due, and notify the Contractor and Owner in writing of the Architect’s reasons for withholding certification in part;
or (3) withhold certification of the entire Application for Payment, and notify the Contractor and Owner of the
Architect’s reason for withholding certification in whole. If certification or notification is not made within such
seven day period, the Contractor may, upon seven additional days’ written notice to the Owner and Architect, stop
the Work until payment of the amount owing has been received. The Contract Time and the Contract Sum shall be
equitably adjusted due to the delay.

§ 12.4 Progress Payments
§ 12.4.1 After the Architect has issued a Certificate for Payment, the Owner shall make payment in the manner
provided in the Contract Documents.

§ 12.4.2 The Contractor shall promptly pay each subcontractor and supplier, upon receipt of payment from the
Owner, an amount determined in accordance with the terms of the applicable subcontracts and purchase orders.

§ 12.4.3 Neither the Owner nor the Architect shall have responsibility for payments to a subcontractor or supplier.

§ 12.4.4 A Certificate for Payment, a progress payment, or partial or entire use or occupancy of the Project by the
Owner shall not constitute acceptance of Work not in accordance with the requirements of the Contract Documents.



AIA Document A105™ – 2017. Copyright © 1993, 2007 and 2017 by The American Institute of Architects. All rights reserved. The “American 
Institute of Architects,” “AIA,” the AIA Logo, and “AIA Contract Documents” are registered trademarks and may not be used without 
permission. This draft was produced by AIA software at 15:53:49 ET on 05/26/2020 under Order No.3132341331 which expires on 08/13/2020, is 
not for resale, is licensed for one-time use only, and may only be used in accordance with the AIA Contract Documents® Terms of Service. To 
report copyright violations, e-mail copyright@aia.org.
User Notes: (1967413867)

12

§ 12.5 Substantial Completion
§ 12.5.1 Substantial Completion is the stage in the progress of the Work when the Work or designated portion
thereof is sufficiently complete in accordance with the Contract Documents so the Owner can occupy or utilize the
Work for its intended use.

§ 12.5.2 When the Contractor believes that the Work or designated portion thereof is substantially complete, it will
notify the Architect and the Architect will make an inspection to determine whether the Work is substantially
complete. When the Architect determines that the Work is substantially complete, the Architect shall prepare a
Certificate of Substantial Completion that shall establish the date of Substantial Completion, establish the
responsibilities of the Owner and Contractor, and fix the time within which the Contractor shall finish all items on
the list accompanying the Certificate. Warranties required by the Contract Documents shall commence on the date
of Substantial Completion of the Work or designated portion thereof unless otherwise provided in the Certificate of
Substantial Completion.

§ 12.6 Final Completion and Final Payment
§ 12.6.1 Upon receipt of a final Application for Payment, the Architect will inspect the Work. When the Architect
finds the Work acceptable and the Contract fully performed, the Architect will promptly issue a final Certificate for
Payment.

§ 12.6.2 Final payment shall not become due until the Contractor submits to the Architect releases and waivers of
liens, and data establishing payment or satisfaction of obligations, such as receipts, claims, security interests, or
encumbrances arising out of the Contract.

§ 12.6.3 Acceptance of final payment by the Contractor, a subcontractor or supplier shall constitute a waiver of
claims by that payee except those previously made in writing and identified by that payee as unsettled at the time of
final Application for Payment.

ARTICLE 13 PROTECTION OF PERSONS AND PROPERTY
The Contractor shall be responsible for initiating, maintaining and supervising all safety precautions and programs, 
including all those required by law in connection with performance of the Contract. The Contractor shall take 
reasonable precautions to prevent damage, injury, or loss to employees on the Work and other persons who may be 
affected thereby, the Work and materials and equipment to be incorporated therein, and other property at the site or 
adjacent thereto. The Contractor shall promptly remedy damage and loss to property caused in whole or in part by 
the Contractor, or by anyone for whose acts the Contractor may be liable.

ARTICLE 14 CORRECTION OF WORK
§ 14.1 The Contractor shall promptly correct Work rejected by the Architect as failing to conform to the
requirements of the Contract Documents. The Contractor shall bear the cost of correcting such rejected Work,
including the costs of uncovering, replacement, and additional testing.

§ 14.2 In addition to the Contractor’s other obligations including warranties under the Contract, the Contractor shall,
for a period of one year after Substantial Completion, correct work not conforming to the requirements of the
Contract Documents.

§ 14.3 If the Contractor fails to correct nonconforming Work within a reasonable time, the Owner may correct it in
accordance with Section 7.3.

ARTICLE 15 MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS
§ 15.1 Assignment of Contract
Neither party to the Contract shall assign the Contract as a whole without written consent of the other.

§ 15.2 Tests and Inspections
§ 15.2.1 At the appropriate times, the Contractor shall arrange and bear cost of tests, inspections, and approvals of
portions of the Work required by the Contract Documents or by laws, statutes, ordinances, codes, rules and
regulations, or lawful orders of public authorities.

§ 15.2.2 If the Architect requires additional testing, the Contractor shall perform those tests.



AIA Document A105™ – 2017. Copyright © 1993, 2007 and 2017 by The American Institute of Architects. All rights reserved. The “American 
Institute of Architects,” “AIA,” the AIA Logo, and “AIA Contract Documents” are registered trademarks and may not be used without 
permission. This draft was produced by AIA software at 15:53:49 ET on 05/26/2020 under Order No.3132341331 which expires on 08/13/2020, is 
not for resale, is licensed for one-time use only, and may only be used in accordance with the AIA Contract Documents® Terms of Service. To 
report copyright violations, e-mail copyright@aia.org. 
User Notes:  (1967413867) 

13

§ 15.2.3 The Owner shall bear cost of tests, inspections, or approvals that do not become requirements until after the
Contract is executed. The Owner shall directly arrange and pay for tests, inspections, or approvals where building
codes or applicable laws or regulations so require.

§ 15.3 Governing Law
The Contract shall be governed by the law of the place where the Project is located, excluding that jurisdiction’s
choice of law rules.

ARTICLE 16   TERMINATION OF THE CONTRACT
§ 16.1 Termination by the Contractor
If the Work is stopped under Section 12.3 for a period of 14 days through no fault of the Contractor, the Contractor
may, upon seven additional days’ written notice to the Owner and Architect, terminate the Contract and recover
from the Owner payment for Work executed including reasonable overhead and profit, and costs incurred by reason
of such termination.

§ 16.2 Termination by the Owner for Cause
§ 16.2.1 The Owner may terminate the Contract if the Contractor

.1 repeatedly refuses or fails to supply enough properly skilled workers or proper materials;

.2 fails to make payment to subcontractors for materials or labor in accordance with the respective 
agreements between the Contractor and the subcontractors;

.3 repeatedly disregards applicable laws, statutes, ordinances, codes, rules and regulations, or lawful 
orders of a public authority; or

.4 is otherwise guilty of substantial breach of a provision of the Contract Documents.

§ 16.2.2 When any of the above reasons exist, the Owner, after consultation with the Architect, may without
prejudice to any other rights or remedies of the Owner and after giving the Contractor and the Contractor’s surety, if
any, seven days’ written notice, terminate employment of the Contractor and may

.1 take possession of the site and of all materials thereon owned by the Contractor, and

.2 finish the Work by whatever reasonable method the Owner may deem expedient.

§ 16.2.3 When the Owner terminates the Contract for one of the reasons stated in Section 16.2.1, the Contractor shall
not be entitled to receive further payment until the Work is finished.

§ 16.2.4 If the unpaid balance of the Contract Sum exceeds costs of finishing the Work, such excess shall be paid to
the Contractor. If such costs exceed the unpaid balance, the Contractor shall pay the difference to the Owner. This
obligation for payment shall survive termination of the Contract.

§ 16.3 Termination by the Owner for Convenience
The Owner may, at any time, terminate the Contract for the Owner’s convenience and without cause. The Contractor
shall be entitled to receive payment for Work executed, and costs incurred by reason of such termination, along with
reasonable overhead and profit on the Work not executed.

ARTICLE 17   OTHER TERMS AND CONDITIONS
(Insert any other terms or conditions below.)

«  »

This Agreement entered into as of the day and year first written above.
(If required by law, insert cancellation period, disclosures or other warning statements above the signatures.)

«N/A  » 



AIA Document A105™ – 2017. Copyright © 1993, 2007 and 2017 by The American Institute of Architects. All rights reserved. The “American 
Institute of Architects,” “AIA,” the AIA Logo, and “AIA Contract Documents” are registered trademarks and may not be used without 
permission. This draft was produced by AIA software at 15:53:49 ET on 05/26/2020 under Order No.3132341331 which expires on 08/13/2020, is 
not for resale, is licensed for one-time use only, and may only be used in accordance with the AIA Contract Documents® Terms of Service. To 
report copyright violations, e-mail copyright@aia.org. 
User Notes:  (1967413867) 

14

OWNER (Signature) CONTRACTOR (Signature)
«Mark Morse »«Chair, Board of County 
Commissioners  » «Yellowstone Basin Construction  »«  » 
(Printed name and title ) (Printed name and title )

LICENSE NO.:
JURISDICTION:



   
B.O.C.C. Regular        
Meeting Date: 11/25/2025  
Title: Two Moon Park Mastication Project 2026
Submitted For:  Joe Lockwood, Supervisor  Submitted By: Joe Lockwood, Supervisor

TOPIC:
Two Moon Park Mastication Project 2026
 

BACKGROUND:
Project involves removal of Common Buckthorn and Russian Olive trees using a forestry mastication
machine.  This project usually takes place in September and takes about 3 to 5 days.  Caudill Forestry
Services will be doing the work. Cost usually runs around $2000 per acre. 

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
Review and Approve. We appreciate the support from the BOCC on this project. 

Attachments
2026 Two Moon Park Mastication Project 











































   
B.O.C.C. Regular 5. a.        
Meeting Date: 11/25/2025  
Title: YCSO/DHS-ICE hold harmless agreement
Submitted By: Carol Redler

TOPIC:
Hold Harmless Agreement for use of the Michael A. Shafer Training Facility

BACKGROUND:
Renewal of existing agreement.

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
Approve and sign.

Attachments
DHS-ICE 2025-2026 



MEMORANDUM OF AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE DEPARTMENT OF 
HOMELAND SECURITY, U.S. IMMIGRATION AND CUSTOMS 

ENFORCEMENT, HOMELAND SECURTY INVESTIGATIONS, DENVER 
AND YELLOWSTONE COUNTY, MONTANA 

MICHAEL A. SCHAFER TRAINING FACILITY 

This agreement (“Agreement”) is made and entered into on this 17th day of 

November, 2025, between Yellowstone County, Montana, the Yellowstone County 

Montana Sheriff’s Office, their officers, agents, employees, representatives, board 

members, predecessors, successors, and assigns, and each of them in both official and individual

capacities (hereinafter collectively referred to as “the County”), and the Department of 

Homeland Security, U.S. Immigration and Customs Enforcement, Homeland Security 

Investigations – Denver (HSI-Denver). (hereinafter referred to as “HSI-Denver”). 

WHEREAS HSI-DENVER is authorized to enter into this agreement pursuant to 

the Government Employees Training Act, 5 U.S.C. §§ 4101 and 4105 permitting agencies to 

“make agreements or other arrangements for the training of employees of the agency by, in, or 

through non-Government facilities.” 

WHEREAS, the Michael A. Schafer Training Facility (hereinafter the “Facility”) is 

situated on approximately one hundred-fifty (150) acres of County property, with a mailing address 

of 1415 Shepherd Acton Road. The Facility consists of two separate firing ranges found on six 

(6) acres located within the Facility. Both firing ranges are fenced off with chain link fencing 

complete with barbed wire uppers 9’ high. One firing range is dedicated for handgun training,

which has adjacent to it a small shed that serves as an observation tower; the other firing range is 

used for a variety of weapons including long rifle training. Additionally, the Facility has a 

classroom building, kitchen, restrooms, a small garage to house equipment and a gun cleaning

Indemnification, Hold Harmless and Release Agreement – Michael A. Schafer Training Facility
Page 1 of 4



Indemnification, Hold Harmless and Release Agreement – Michael A. Schafer Training Facility
Page 2 of 4

building. In addition, and outside the fenced perimeter is a modular home designated as the “shoot 

house” which is used for realistic training using simulated munitions;

WHEREAS, the HSI-Denver wishes to make use of the Facility for the benefit of 

employees of the HSI-Denver for the purpose of sanctioned training, including but not limited to, 

firearms training, day, and night shoots and any other voluntary or mandatory law enforcement 

training; 

WHEREAS, the County is willing to permit the HSI-Denver to use the Facility, but at the 

same time, the County is unwilling to assume the risk for the HSI-Denver’s use of the facility; 

WHEREAS, it is then in the mutual interest of the County and the HSI-Denver to enter 

into the agreement as set forth below; 

NOW, THEREFORE, in and for good consideration, the sufficiency of which is hereby 

mutually acknowledged and for the mutual covenants and promises set forth below, the County 

and the HSI-Denver enter into this Agreement, effective immediately upon execution of this 

document, the terms which are as follows: 

1. The County agrees to allow the HSI-Denver to utilize the Facility on specified days 

during the length of this Agreement for the purpose of sanctioned day and night 

firearms training and any other voluntary or mandatory use consistent with generally 

accepted law enforcement training. 

2. HSI-Denver shall be responsible for the acts or omissions of its employees acting 

within the scope of their federal employment only to the extent authorized by the 

Federal Tort Claims Act (FTCA), 28 §§ U.S.C.2671-80, and other applicable federal 

law. Federal agencies, as part of the United States government, are bound by federal 

laws including the FTCA and the Anti-Deficiency Act, 31, U.S.C. § 1341. HSI- 



Indemnification, Hold Harmless and Release Agreement – Michael A. Schafer Training Facility
Page 3 of 4

Denver is effectively “self-insured” under the FTCA, which provides the United States 

may be sued for damages to or loss of property, personal injury, or death caused by the 

negligent or wrongful act or omissions of a federal agency’s employees while those 

employees are acting within the scope of their offices.

3. This Agreement may not be amended or modified except by another written instrument 

signed by the party or parties to be bound. In addition, HSI-Denver is prohibited from 

subleasing the Facility to individuals or agencies without the express written 

permission of the County.

4. The County makes no warranty, either express or implied, as to the fitness of the 

Facility for a specific use, and the parties to this Agreement agree that use of the Facility 

necessarily creates dangerous and hazardous conditions by anyone for any purpose and 

that any use of the Facility represents dangerous conditions that can result in serious 

injury up to and including death.

5. This Agreement shall be interpreted, construed, and enforced in accordance with the 

laws of the United States and to the extent that they do not conflict with the laws of the 

United States, the laws of the State of Montana. This Agreement shall remain in full 

force and effect for one year from the date the HSI-Denver executes this Agreement. 

Thereafter, it is the intent of the parties to renew this Agreement on an annual basis. 

The County reserves the right to modify this Agreement at anytime during the term of 

this Agreement with the concurrence of HSI-Denver. Either party may terminate this 

agreement with written notice of termination sent certified mail to the other party.



Indemnification, Hold Harmless and Release Agreement – Michael A. Schafer Training Facility
Page 4 of 4

6. The County shall not hold harmless or indemnify HSI-Denver for any demands, 

liability, claims, actions, and cause of action, suits, losses, judgments, or settlements 

whatsoever. 

7. In the event any provision of this Agreement is held to be unenforceable for any reason, 

the unenforceability thereof shall not affect the remainder of the Agreement which shall 

remain in full force and effect and shall remain enforceable in accordance with the 

terms hereof. 

8. Each of the undersigned persons represents and warrants that he or she is authorized to 

execute this Agreement on behalf of the respective party, and that he or she has the full 

power and authority to bind such party to each and every provision of this Agreement.

IN WITNESS THEREOF, the parties have caused this Agreement to be executed by their 

duly authorized representative on the dates herein subscribed.

YELLOWSTONE COUNTY 
By: Board Chairman Mark Morse  

           
  Date 

DHS/ICE 
HOMELAND SECURITY
INVESTIGATIONS – DENVER

    
  Date 



   
B.O.C.C. Regular 5. b.        
Meeting Date: 11/25/2025  
Title: Sheriff's Office Alarm Monitoring
Submitted By: Carol Redler

TOPIC:
Change in Alarm Monitoring Service for the Sheriff's Office & Evidence Building
 

BACKGROUND:
The Sheriff's Office requests permission to switch alarm monitoring providers for both the downtown office
and the evidence building. Mountain Alarm currently services both locations for a combined cost of
$101.85 per month. The new provider, Tel Net, will service both locations for a combined cost of $110.00
per month. There will be initial set-up fees of $1,031.69 for the downtown office and $955.87 for the
evidence building.

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
Consent.

Attachments
Tel Net security agmt. 
Tel Net monitoring agmt. 
Tel Net call list 











































   
B.O.C.C. Regular 6. a.        
Meeting Date: 11/25/2025  
Title: Proposed Class Specification - Deputy Chief Criminal Attorney
Submitted By: Erika Guy

TOPIC:
Proposed Class Specification - Deputy Chief Criminal Attorney

BACKGROUND:
See Attached 

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
Approve or Deny

Attachments
Proposed Class Specification - Deputy Chief Criminal Attorney 













   
B.O.C.C. Regular 6. b.        
Meeting Date: 11/25/2025  
Title: PARS
Submitted By: Teri Reitz, Board Clerk

TOPIC:
PERSONNEL ACTION REPORTS — Detention Facility - 1 Appointment, 6 Salary & Other, 3
Terminations; County Attorney - 1 Appointment; Youth Services Center - 1 Termination; Motor
Vehicle - 1 Termination 

BACKGROUND:
See attached. 

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
Approve. 

Attachments
PARS 





























   
B.O.C.C. Regular        
Meeting Date: 11/25/2025  
Title: Board Minutes
Submitted By: Teri Reitz, Board Clerk

TOPIC:
Board Minutes - Lockwood Irrigation District Board Minutes
 

BACKGROUND:
See attached. 

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
Place to file. 

Attachments
Lockwood Irrigation Board Minutes 



  

Meeting Minutes: 

October 15, 2025 

The October meeting of the L.I.D. was held at the Lockwood Water and Sewer District office, at 1644 Old Hardin RD.  The 

board members present were Terry Seiffert, Bob Riehl, Brent Kober and Manager Carl Peters. Taylor Kasperick from 

Performance Engineering was also present. 

The meeting was called to order at 7:00 PM by Terry Seiffert. September 17, 2025, meeting minutes were reviewed, a 

motion was made by Bob Riehl, seconded by Brent Kober to approve the September 17th minutes, motion carried.  

Public Comment: 

 

New Business  

1. $1,739,00.00 Bond: The Manager received an email Jennifer Bryan with the Yellowstone County Treasurers 

office, and they found a couple of combined lots, but the acreage would stay the same, and an email was sent to 

bond counsel. Three tax codes became one, two tax codes became one, and a “mastercard” with 8 commercial 

properties that have never been assessed.  The Manager submitted an invoice tracker (April to September) to 

the DRNC (Anna Miller). The Watertronics invoice for $199,546.00 was submitted to the Yellowstone County 

Finance Office for payment on 10-9-25. This invoice was reviewed by Mr. Kasperick before submittal. Mr. 

Kasperick says that there is still 10% due in the Spring after the system is active, to ensure that there aren’t any 

issues.  Mr. Kasperick says that we are about $16,000.00 ahead of budget compared to what we expected last 

year. This is mostly due to the interest earned on the Bond account. The Manager pointed out that we are about 

$22,000.00 short of putting a canopy over the skid.  The board needs to decide on how the canopy should be 

built. The bid from Askin was for steel members and a roof but we could also build it with 2x4’s and a metal roof.          

2. New Pump Station Project: The Skid was delivered 10-9-25 and Askin will be working till 11-30-25 as the 

timeline for substantial completion to get the pipeline and the electrical being connected. PCO for temporary 

fencing around the skid for 3 to 4 hundred dollars. Mr. Kasperick recommends this to protect the skid. Mr. 

Kasperick will contact Askin to get a formal PCO for the temporary fencing. The Manager asked Mr. Kasperick 

had heard anything from Northwestern Energy because he waited up there for 40 minutes.  Mr. Kasperick gave 

Kam the number to the Manager and he went up there last Wednesday to meet him, but he never showed up. 

Jerry Larosse, the technician from Watertronics will be on site this May for system startup. Todd Sutherland with 

Askin Construction, asked if we should install a thrust block where the water comes out? Taylor Kasperick said 

that the pipe is connected by a coupler and thinks that it may be a very good idea to install a thrust block in this 

area to reduce wear and tear on the connections in the area. Mr. Kasperick also said that all the joints are going 

to be welded by Askin but thinks it would be beneficial where the pipe bends. The connection point that would 

likely fail is the mechanical joint from the Watertronics pipe to Askin’s pipe. This would entail a chunk of 

concrete under a pipe on each side to hold them in place.   

3. 2025 LID Assessment List:  

4. MDT Interchange Projects: Nothing new. Looks like they are installing CMP down into the ditch for drainage 

from the highway (I-90) and the Irrigation Intake canal is not storm drainage. The Manager said that he will get 

in contact with them to let them know that this is not going to work.  

5. OHR Sidewalk Project: The contractors did a great job installing the new manhole access that replaced the trash 

rack down by the Dairy Queen drive through. 

6. Clayton ST Project: 60’ Greenwood Culvert extension: Bill Phauf on Greenwood and he talked about where they 

are connecting in being a county culvert. The Manager spoke with Jay Anderson, who is the Deputy Public Works 

Director for Yellowstone County. He asked for the Manager to send over the plans for the Clayton ST project 

culvert extension because the Manager is unaware of the condition of the culvert that Lance Story is trying to 



  

connect too. The County would have to sign off on this because it is considered county property. If the County is 

installing a new replacement culvert, they won’t connect a county culvert to a private culvert.  

7. Required Audit: The Manager submitted a nine-month extension on the due date with MT Local Government 

Bureau on 10-10-25. This will make the audit due June 30, 2026. The Manager hasn’t heard anything back from 

them regarding approval or denial. Kentra Accounting Professionals put together an audit proposal. There were 

five in Billings that are approved to do this kind of audit. The Manager contacted all five and the only positive 

response was from Kentra Accounting Professionals. The board asked that the Manager try to obtain a second 

proposal from another Accounting Firm. The Manager is contacting Brian with Summer McNea to obtain a 

second proposal. Brent Kober suggested getting ahold of Anna Miller to see if there is any funding to help pay 

for the audit requirement because it was not considered in the project budget. The Manager said he would 

investigate this.  

Old Business  

1. LID-LWSD Water Rights: Nothing new. 

2. 2014 LID Rate Update 2019: On Hold.  

Manager’s Report:  

Northwestern Energy no longer has a rebate program for the new pumps, but the Manager has been in contact with Justin 

Hyatt at DMV Energy Services to help get some assistance. The Manager will have to work with the engineers to get all 

the information about this business to determine if our project is an energy-efficient project. The phase three sewer 

project has a lot of crossings on our canals. Mr. Riehl said then we should be charging them the $500.00 encroachment 

fee for each crossing. The board agreed. The Manager asked if it would be a better idea to send lateral cleaning letters out 

in the mail closer to March. The Board agreed that it would be better to send them closer to the beginning of the season. 

Dale Hanson cleaned 500’ of the 60’ canal up by Metra RV, plus removal of some Russian Olive trees on the 100’ near 

Cedar Canyon road for $1,400.00. The Manager was surprised that we have gone over our O&M budget for electricity. 

 

Secretary’s Report: 

The September financial reports were presented at the October 15th meeting, a motion was made by Brent Kober to 

approve the financials for September, seconded by Bob Riehl.  With no further business, a motion was made to adjourn 

by Bob Riehl, 2nd  by Brent Kober, the meeting was adjourned at 8:02PM. The next board meeting will be on November 

19, at 7:00 PM, located at the Lockwood Water and Sewer Office.   

Respectfully submitted,  
Angela Watson, Secretary/Treasurer 



   
B.O.C.C. Regular        
Meeting Date: 11/25/2025  
Title: Tax Appeal Board Minutes 11/19/25
Submitted By: Erika Guy

TOPIC:
Tax Appeal Board Minutes 11/19/25
 

BACKGROUND:
See Attached

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
File

Attachments
Board Minutes 













   
B.O.C.C. Regular        
Meeting Date: 11/25/2025  
Title: 2025 Municipal General Election Canvass
Submitted By: Teri Reitz, Board Clerk

TOPIC:
2025 Municipal General Election Canvass
 

BACKGROUND:
See attached. 

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
Place to file. 

Attachments
2025 Municipal General Election Canvass 











   
B.O.C.C. Regular        
Meeting Date: 11/25/2025  
Title: Metra Skybox Renovation IFB - Addendum #1
Submitted For:  Matt Kessler, Purchasing Agent 
Submitted By: Matt Kessler, Purchasing Agent

TOPIC:
Metra Skybox Renovation IFB - Addendum #1
 

BACKGROUND:
Addendum #1 for the Metra Skybox Renovation IFB was distributed to all participants who attended the
mandatory pre-bid meeting. This addendum pushes back the bid deadline to Monday, December 15th, by
3:00PM.

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
File

Attachments
Metra Skybox Renovation - Addendum #1 



YELLOWSTONE COUNTY, MONTANA 
Invitation for Bid 

Metra Skybox Renovation 
 

Addendum #1 
November 20th, 2025 
 
The Invitation for Bid for the Metra Skybox Renovation project was released on October 28th, 
2025, with bids due on Monday, November 24th, 2025. 
 
This addendum will postpone the bid deadline, as the County has not been able to get 
questions answered from the Pre-Bid meeting. The new deadline will not be no later than 
3:00PM on Monday, December 15th, 2025. An addendum will follow this when the County 
has answers to the questions asked in the Pre-Bid meeting. 
 
   



   
B.O.C.C. Regular        
Meeting Date: 11/25/2025  
Title: Snow Removal Contract with Thuesen Landscape LLC
Submitted For:  Monica Plecker, Public Works Director 
Submitted By: Trasee Field, Senior Secretary

TOPIC:
Snow Removal Contract with Thuesen Landscaping LLC 

BACKGROUND:
Snow removal contract for Lone Eagle Subdivision RSID 720M with Thuesen Landscape LLC 

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
File 

Attachments
Contract 



 1 

Standard Form of Agreement between Owner 
and Contractor on the Basis of 

A Stipulated Price 
Snow Plowing for Lone Eagle Subdivision RSID 720 M 

 
This agreement is dated as of the _____ of____________ 2025, by and between Yellowstone County, 
Montana (hereinafter called Owner), and Thuesen Landscape LLC, Billings Montana (hereinafter called 
Contractor). 
 
Owner and Contractor, in consideration of the material covenants hereinafter set forth, agree as follows: 
 
 1. Scope of Work 
 

 Contractor shall provide all labor and equipment necessary to remove the snow from all 
constructed roads, including cul-de-sacs, located in the Lone Eagle Subdivision, RSID 720 
M, as outlined in the attached Scope of dated January 24, 2018.  

 
                          Ice: 
 

                The Client understands that Thuesen does not provide salting or deicing services to the 
surface, and that certain locations may not clear the area to “bare pavement”, and that 
slippery conditions may continue to prevail, even after plowing. The client understands 
Thuesen assumes no liability for this naturally occurring condition. The client agrees to 
defend and hold harmless Thuesen for all trespasses or suits that may arise because of 
this naturally occurring condition.  

 
2. Contract Times 

 
This contract will be in effect from November 2025 until May 2026. Should any work, 
outside the Scope of Work need to be performed, both parties must agree in writing.      
  

             3. Contract Price 
 

The Owner shall pay the Contractor $142.50 per hour for snow plowing with a one-hour 
minimum charge per request for plowing. The standard standby charge shall be $285.00. 
 

 4. Contractors Representation  
 

 4.1 Contractor has examined and reviewed the Contract Documents and other related 
paperwork.  

   
4.2 Contractor has visited the site and become familiar with and is satisfied as to the 

general, local and site conditions that may affect cost, progress, performance and 
furnishing of the work. 

 
4.3 Contractor is familiar with and is satisfied as to all federal, state and local laws and 

Karlissa
13

Karlissa
November



 2 

regulations that may affect cost, progress, performance and furnishing of the work.  
    

4.4 Contractor has given Owner written notice of all conflicts, errors, ambiguities or 
discrepancies that the Contractor has discovered in the Contract Documents and  

 that the Contract Documents are generally sufficient to indicate and convey the 
understanding of all terms and conditions for performance and furnishings of the 
work.         

 
 

 5.         Contract Documents 
 
 The Contract Documents, which comprise the entire agreement between Owner                 
 and Contractor, consist of the following: 

 
5.1       This Agreement. 

 
5.2       Ad-Hoc Acknowledgement of rates and fees 
 
5.3       Scope of Work dated January 24th, 2018.              

 
5.4       Contractor’s current Certificate of Insurance and Workers                                

   Compensation coverage. 
 

6.       Miscellaneous 
6.1 No assignment by a party hereto of any rights under or interests in the Contract 

Documents will be binding on another party hereto without the written consent of 
the party sought to be bound; and specifically but without limitation, moneys that 
may become due and moneys that are due may not be assigned without written 
consent (except to the extent that the effect of this restriction may be limited by 
law), and unless specifically stated to the contrary in any written consent to an 
assignment no assignment will discharge the assignor from any duty or 
responsibility under the Contract Documents. 

 
  6.2 The successful bidder (herein after Contractor),shall maintain at 

its sole cost and expense, commercial general liability insurance naming 
Yellowstone County/ Public Works, as additional insured against liability for 
damages for bodily injury, including death and completed operations and 
property damages in a minimum amount of Seven Hundred Fifty Thousand 
Dollars ($750,000.00) for each claim and One Million Five Hundred Thousand 
Dollars , ($1,500,000.00), in the aggregate arising from incidents which occur as 
the result of Contractors negligence while performing any work or service and 
for which Yellowstone County / Public Works, sole basis of liability is vicarious 
liability for the acts or omissions of the Contractor or/and subcontractors.  
Contractor shall maintain at its cost and expense, insurance against claims for 
injuries to persons or damages to property, including contractual liability which 
may arise from or in connection with work or service by Contractor, agents, 
employees, representatives, assigns and sub-contractors.  This insurance shall 
cover claims as may be caused by any negligent act or omission.  The policy of 
insurance shall be an occurrence policy with a Best Rating of A- or better and 



 3 

must be in force throughout the period. 

Contractor shall name on the Certificate of liability insurance Yellowstone 
County / Public Works, as additional insured for on-site work or Maintenance 
Service.  In addition, Contractor will furnish to Yellowstone County a copy of 
the policy endorsement, CG 32 87 05 10, indicating that Yellowstone County / 
Public Works, are named as an additional insured under the Contractors 
insurance policy. 

Contractor agrees to furnish both the Certificate of insurance and policy                  
endorsement at least ten (10) days prior to beginning work. 

 

Contractor agrees to defend, indemnify and hold harmless Yellowstone County / 
Public Works from and against any and all claims demands, obligations cause of 
action, lawsuits and all damages and liabilities fines, judgments, costs, (including 
settlement costs), and expenses associated therewith (including reasonable 
attorney’s fees and disbursements), arising from incidents that occur the result of 
Contractors negligence. And for which Yellowstone County / Public Works, sole 
basis of liability is vicarious liability for the acts or omissions of Contractor.  The 
defense and indemnification obligations under this paragraph of the Invitation to 
Bid shall not be limited by any assertions or finding that Yellowstone County/ 
Public Works, is liable for any damages by reason of a non-delegable duty.    

 
 
6.3 Contractor is required to maintain workers compensation insurance, or an 

independent contractor’s exemption issued by the Montana Department of Labor 
covering Contractor and Contractor’s employees.  Contractor is not, nor is 
Contractor’s workers, employees of Yellowstone County/Yellowstone County 
Public Works.  Workers Compensation insurance, or the exemption from the 
workers compensation obligation must be valid for the entire period.  

 
 
6.4 Owner and Contractor each bind itself, its partners, successors,  assign  and 
legal representative to the other party hereto, its partners,  successors, assign and legal 
representative to respect to all covenants,  agreements and obligations contained in the 
Contract Documents. 

 
 

6.5   Contractor must give preference to the employment of bona fide residents of Montana 
in the performance of this work.  

 
6.6     All work and materials must be warranted for a period of one year from                 
 date of installation.  

 
6.7      The Parties agree that the laws of the State of Montana shall govern this                 
 contract, and that venue shall be in the Thirteenth Judicial District  Court,      
 Yellowstone County, Montana 

 
                         6.8        Contractor agrees to defend, indemnify and hold harmless the County  

 against all claims for injuries to person or damages to property occurred from or in 



 4 

Connection with the Contractors performance under the Agreement. 
 
6.9 In the event of litigation between Contractor and the County, the  
            Prevailing party shall be entitled to reimbursement of Court costs and 
            Reasonable Attorney fees by the non-prevailing party. 
 
7.0 The Contractor must, in performance of work under this contract, fully comply 

with all applicable federal, state or local laws, rules, regulations, including the 
Montana Human Rights Act, Civil Rights Act of 1964, The Age Discrimination 
Act of 1975 and the American with Disabilities Act of 1990. Any subletting or 
subcontracting by the Contractor subjects contractors to the same provisions.  In 
accordance with section 49-3-207, MCA, the Contractor agrees that the hiring of 
persons to perform the contract will be made on the basis of merit and qualification 
and there will be no discrimination based upon race, color, religion, creed, political 
ideas, sex, age, marital status, physical or mental disability, or national origin by 
the person performing under the contract. 

 
8.0 Termination 

 
This Agreement shall terminate in its entirety in accordance with the terms found in 
paragraph 2.  However, either party may terminate this contract on thirty (30 calendar days 
written notice, or if prior to such action, the other party materially breaches any of its 
representations or obligations under this Agreement.  Except as may be otherwise provided 
in this Agreement, such breach by either party will result in the other party being 
responsible to reimburse the non-defaulting party for all costs incurred directly as a result 
of the breach of this Agreement and shall be subject to such damages as may be allowed 
by law including attorneys’ fees and costs of enforcing this Agreement.   
 

 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the County and Contractor have signed this Agreement in duplicate. One 

counterpart each will be delivered to the County and Contractor.  All portions of the Contract Documents 

have been signed, initialed or identified by the County and Contractor.  

 
 
This Agreement will be effective the ____day of ______________2025 
 
 
OWNER:      CONTRACTOR: 
Yellowstone County     Thuesen Landscape LLC. 
Billings, Montana   59101    PO Box 20378 
                                                                                                          Billings Mt. 59104 
       
 
 
_________________________________           _______________________________ 
Monica Plecker                             Contractor 
Public Works Director              Jake Thuesen 

                                               Phone # 406-855-2771 

Karlissa
13

Karlissa
November



 5 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

Snow Plowing in Lone Eagle Subdivision RSID 720 M___________ 

Scope of Work – Specifications 
Date _January 24th 2018  

The scope of work includes the following: 
 

Lone Eagle Subdivision is located north of Billings Mt.  An aerial map showing its location and 
the streets to be plowed is available by contacting the County Public Works Department; a 
hard copy can be picked up or an electronic version emailed. 

 
• The areas to be plowed are all constructed roads in the Subdivision, including cul-de-sacs.  

 
• Snow plowing will automatically be expected once 2 or more inches of snow have 

accumulated on the road surfaces to be plowed. The Ad-Hoc committee chairperson, Jim 
Baker, may request additional snow plowing if less than 2 inches of snow have accumulated or 
there is drifting but it must be requested by the Add-Hoc committee member. 

 
• Coordinate with property owners and RSID Ad-Hoc members as necessary. 

 
o After completion of the work, provide copies of the invoice to: 

 
    Ad-Hoc Committee 
    Member  Jim Baker 
  
    Address   
 
    Phone                 850-4610    
 
               Email               jimbaker88@q.com           
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 6 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 


	Agenda
	AI 15727 November Recognition
	AI 15765 Bid Opening for Metra Skybox Renovation
	AI 15754 Approach Variance - 2523 Jessica Street (Driveway Width and Fill)
	       ATT_(Letter 1) Initial Violation Letter from PW to Steven Taylor
	       ATT_(Letters 2 and 3) Variance Request Letters from Steven Taylor
	       ATT_Variance Denial Letter
	       ATT_Supporting Documents
	Pages from Complete Binder_Steven Taylor_Jessica Street-2.pdf
	Pages from Complete Binder_Steven Taylor_Jessica Street.pdf

	       ATT_Letter from Applicant 11.20.25
	AI 15748 Board Reappointment
	       ATT_Linda Lien
	AI 15752 Board Openings
	       ATT_Board Openings
	AI 15761 MOU with Alternatives HEART Grant
	       ATT_Alternatives Sub-Contract
	AI 15764 Recommendation of Award - Metra Crowd Management Services
	       ATT_NOIA - Metra Crowd Management
	       ATT_Metra Crowd Management Services RFP Scoring
	       ATT_Crowd Management Services Tab Sheet
	       ATT_Crowd Management Services Tab Sheet (2)
	AI 15767 Notice of Award - Cedar Hall Renovation IFB
	       ATT_Notice of Award - Cedar Hall Renovation IFB
	       ATT_YBC Contract - Cedar Hall
	AI 15758 Two Moon Park Mastication Project 2026
	       ATT_2026 Two Moon Park Mastication Project 
	AI 15747 YCSO/DHS-ICE hold harmless agreement
	       ATT_DHS-ICE 2025-2026
	AI 15755 Sheriff's Office Alarm Monitoring
	       ATT_Tel Net security agmt.
	       ATT_Tel Net monitoring agmt.
	       ATT_Tel Net call list
	AI 15759 Proposed Class Specification - Deputy Chief Criminal Attorney
	       ATT_Proposed Class Specification - Deputy Chief Criminal Attorney
	AI 15760 PARS
	       ATT_PARS
	AI 15768 Board Minutes
	       ATT_Lockwood Irrigation Board Minutes
	AI 15757 Tax Appeal Board Minutes 11/19/25
	       ATT_Board Minutes
	AI 15762 2025 Municipal General Election Canvass
	       ATT_2025 Municipal General Election Canvass
	AI 15766 Metra Skybox Renovation IFB - Addendum #1
	       ATT_Metra Skybox Renovation - Addendum _1
	AI 15749 Snow Removal Contract with Thuesen Landscape LLC
	       ATT_Contract

